

IN FOCUS HEART, STROKE AND VASCULAR DISEASE

Zoe Schofield, Fergus W Gardiner, Lara Bishop, Breeanna Spring, Lauren Gale and Frank Quinlan



VH-FGR

Acknowledgments

This report has been prepared by the Royal Flying Doctor Service (RFDS) using data and evidence from multiple sources, including from the Commonwealth Department of Health, Australian Bureau of Statistics, the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, and Torrens University Public Health Information Development Unit. Prior to publication this report was reviewed by the RFDS Health Research Ethics Working Group, which comprises RFDS clinicians and researchers throughout Australia.

Published by Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia Level 2, 10–12 Brisbane Avenue Barton ACT 2600 Australia ABN 74 438 059 643 Tel: (02) 6269 5500

Suggested citation: Schofield, Z., Gardiner, F.W., Bishop, L., Spring, B., Gale, L., and Quinlan, F. (2023). *Best for the Bush in Focus: Heart, Stroke and Vascular Disease.* Canberra, Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia.

© 2023 Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia

About the Royal Flying Doctor Service (RFDS)

The RFDS is a national, charitable health organisation delivering primary health care and 24-hour emergency services for those who live in rural and remote Australia. Long known as one of the largest aeromedical organisations in the world, the RFDS delivers health care where mainstream health services are not available, using the latest in aviation, medical and communications technology, and a broad-reaching ground-service fleet.

Our Commitment to Reconciliation

The RFDS respects and acknowledges Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples as the First Australians, recognising the significant and ongoing impacts of colonisation and dispossession. Our vision for reconciliation is a culture that strives for unity, equity and respect between Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples and other Australians. The RFDS is committed to improved health outcomes and access to health services for all Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. Our Reconciliation Action Plan outlines our intentions to use research and policy to drive improvement:

https://www.flyingdoctor.org.au/download-document/RAP22-24/

RFDS research and policy reports include Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples' data as part of a broader effort to improve health outcomes and access to health services and as a contribution to the 'Close the Gap' campaign. This report contributes to the aims of our Reconciliation Action Plan and the RFDS will continue to work with and be guided by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples in determining how best to address their needs and priorities. Through our strong and committed partnerships with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples and communities, we will focus on building local, community-led solutions, recognising that self-determination for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples is fundamental to improving health outcomes.

Use of the term 'Indigenous'

The term 'Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples' is preferred in RFDS publications when referring to the separate Indigenous peoples of Australia. However, the term 'Indigenous peoples' is used interchangeably with 'Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples' to assist readability. Throughout this publication, the term 'Indigenous peoples' refers to all persons who identify as being Aboriginal, Torres Strait Islander, or both Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander.

Contents

| Acknowledgments | 2 |
|---|----|
| Executive summary | 8 |
| Chapter 1: About heart, stroke and vascular disease | 13 |
| 1.1 Introduction | 13 |
| 1.2 Defining rural and remote Australia | 14 |
| 1.3 Australian population by remoteness | 15 |
| 1.4 Health of rural and remote Australians | 15 |
| 1.4.1 Health risk factors | 15 |
| 1.4.2 Social determinants of health | 16 |
| 1.4.3 Access to health services | 17 |
| 1.5 Heart, stroke and vascular disease prevalence, mortality and morbidity | 18 |
| 1.5.1 Prevalence | 18 |
| 1.5.2 Hospitalisations | 18 |
| 1.5.3 Deaths | 18 |
| 1.5.4 Burden of disease | 20 |
| 1.5.5 Other | 20 |
| Chapter 2: RFDS aeromedical retrievals for heart, stroke and vascular disease | 21 |
| 2.1 Methodology | 22 |
| 2.2 Results | 22 |
| 2.2.1 Types of RFDS retrievals | 22 |
| 2.2.2 Summary data | 22 |
| 2.2.3 Patient characteristics | 23 |
| 2.2.4 Aeromedical retrieval pick-up and drop-off locations | 25 |
| 2.3 Heart Stroke and vascular disease hotspots | 26 |
| 2.4 Discussion | 27 |
| Chapter 3. RFDS aeromedical retrievals for heart, stroke and vascular disease sub-types | 28 |
| 3.1 Introduction | 28 |
| 3.2 Heart, stroke and vascular disease sub-types | 29 |
| 3.2.1 Hospitalisations by sub-type | 29 |
| 3.3 Methodology | 30 |
| 3.4 Results | 30 |
| 3.5 Ischaemic heart disease | 30 |
| 3.5.1 RFDS aeromedical retrievals for ischaemic heart disease | 32 |
| 3.5.2 Patient characteristics | 32 |
| 3.5.3 Aeromedical retrieval pick-up and drop-off locations | 33 |
| 3.6 Acute myocardial infarction | 34 |
| 3.6.1 RFDS aeromedical retrievals for acute myocardial infarction | 34 |
| 3.6.2 Patient characteristics | 34 |
| 3.6.3 Aeromedical retrieval pick-up and drop-off locations | 36 |

Contents

| 3.7 Heart failure | 37 |
|---|----|
| 3.7.1 RFDS aeromedical retrievals for heart failure | 37 |
| 3.7.2 Patient characteristics | 37 |
| 3.7.3 Aeromedical retrieval pick-up and drop-off locations | 39 |
| 3.8 Cerebrovascular disease | 39 |
| 3.8.1 RFDS aeromedical retrievals for cerebrovascular disease | 41 |
| 3.8.2 Patient characteristics | 41 |
| 3.8.3 Aeromedical retrieval pick-up and drop-off locations | 42 |
| 3.9 Acute rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease | 44 |
| 3.9.1 RFDS aeromedical retrievals for rheumatic heart disease | 45 |
| 3.9.2 Patient characteristics | 46 |
| 3.9.3 Aeromedical retrieval pick-up and drop-off locations | 48 |
| 3.10 Discussion | 49 |
| Chapter 4. Service models that promote good heart health | |
| 4.1 Role of primary health care | 51 |
| 4.2 RFDS primary healthcare services | 52 |
| 4.2.1 Spotlight on RFDS dental services | 52 |
| 4.3 Other interventions | 53 |
| 4.3.1 Heart Health Check | 53 |
| 4.3.2 Cardiac rehabilitation services | 54 |
| 4.3.3 Integrated Cardiovascular Clinical Network | 55 |
| 4.3.4 The Australian Stroke Alliance | 55 |
| 4.3.5 Take Heart: Deadly Heart | 56 |
| 4.3.6 Purple House | 56 |
| 4.4 Summary | 56 |
| Chapter 5. Conclusion and recommendations | 57 |
| 5.1 Conclusion | 57 |
| 5.2 Recommendations | 58 |
| References | 61 |
| Appendix 1. Methodology for analysis of RFDS aeromedical retrieval data | 66 |
| Data limitations and exclusions | 67 |

Tables

| Table 1.1. Australia's population by remoteness areas, 2021 | 15 |
|--|----|
| Table 1.2 Australia's Indigenous population by remoteness areas, 2021 | 15 |
| Table 3.1 Rural and remote Statistical Area Level 3 regions in each Australian state/territory that had the highest standardised death ratios for ischaemic heart disease, for people aged 0–74 years, 2016–20 | 31 |
| Table 3.2 Rural and remote Statistical Area Level 3 regions in each Australian state/territory that had the highest standardised death ratios for cerebrovascular disease, for people aged 0–74 years, 2016–20 | 40 |
| Table A1 The International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems,Tenth Revision, Australian Modification (ICD-10-AM) for heart, stroke and vascular disease | 68 |

Figures

| Figure | 1.1 Remoteness areas of Australia1 | 4 |
|--------|---|---|
| Figure | 2.1 Flight path for RFDS aeromedical retrievals of patients with heart, stroke and vascular disease, by flight type, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021 | 3 |
| Figure | 2.2 Number of patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for heart, stroke and vascular disease, by five-year age group and Indigenous status, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 20212 | 4 |
| Figure | 2.3 Number of patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for heart, stroke and vascular disease, by gender and Indigenous status, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021 | 4 |
| Figure | 2.4. RFDS aeromedical retrieval pick-up locations for heart, stroke and vascular disease by Australian state and territory, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021 | 5 |
| Figure | Figure 2.5. Rural and remote Australian communities worst affected by heart, stroke and vascular disease | 6 |
| Figure | 3.1 Number of patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for ischaemic heart disease, by five-year age group and Indigenous status, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021 | 2 |
| Figure | 3.2 Number of patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for ischaemic heart disease, by gender and Indigenous status, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021 | 3 |
| Figure | 3.3 Aeromedical retrieval pick-up locations for ischaemic heart disease, 1 January 2017to 31 December 2021 | 3 |
| Figure | 3.4 Number of patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for acute myocardial infarction, by five-year age group and Indigenous status, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021 | 5 |
| Figure | 3.5 Number of patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for acute myocardial infarction, by gender and Indigenous status, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021 | 5 |
| Figure | 3.6 Aeromedical retrieval pick-up locations for acute myocardial infarction, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021 | 6 |
| Figure | 3.7 Number of patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for heart failure, by five-year age group and Indigenous status, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021 | 8 |
| Figure | 3.8 Number of patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for heart failure, by gender and Indigenous status, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021 | 8 |
| Figure | 3.9 Aeromedical retrieval pick-up locations for heart failure, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021 | 9 |
| Figure | 3.10 Number of patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for cerebrovascular disease, by five-year age group and Indigenous status, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021 | 1 |

| Figure | e 3.11 Number of patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for cerebrovascular disease, by gender and Indigenous status, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021 | . 42 |
|--------|---|------|
| Figure | 9 3.12 Aeromedical retrieval pick-up locations for cerebrovascular diseases, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021 | . 43 |
| Figure | e 3.13 Age-standardised prevalence (per 100,000) of acute rheumatic fever or rheumatic heart disease in Indigenous population in five Australian jurisdictions, by Indigenous Region Categories, 2015–17 | . 45 |
| Figure | 3.14 Number of patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for acute rheumatic fever or rheumatic heart disease, by five-year age group and Indigenous status, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021 | . 46 |
| Figure | e 3.15 Number of patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for acute rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease, by gender and Indigenous status, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021 | . 47 |
| Figure | e 3.16 Aeromedical retrieval pick-up locations for acute rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021 | . 48 |
| Figure | e 4.1 Locations of RFDS primary evacuations for acute myocardial infarction (left) compared to where cardiac services are based (right) | . 54 |

Executive summary

The RFDS provides around 35,000 aeromedical retrievals every year, on behalf of the Commonwealth and our state retrieval partners, transporting those living, working and travelling in rural and remote Australia to the urgent hospital care they need. The most common reason for the RFDS to provide an aeromedical retrieval is in response to heart, stroke and vascular disease, consistently accounting for almost a quarter of all RFDS retrievals.¹

Given this finding, this first *Best for the Bush: In Focus* report is focused on heart, stroke and vascular disease, and seeks to document prevalence in rural and remote areas as compared to other parts of Australia, highlight specific gaps in service access, and identify needs in order to contribute to an evidence-informed response to address these issues.

Heart, stroke and vascular disease is a significant issue in Australia – more than 1.2 million people are living with one or more of these diseases, which contribute to a quarter of all deaths.² Ischaemic heart disease, also known as coronary heart disease, is currently the leading cause of death in Australia³ and costs the Australian health system almost \$12 billion a year.

Socioeconomic factors and the ability to access comprehensive health services significantly affect the prevalence and impact of these diseases. In 2016–2020, deaths from ischaemic heart disease were up to 10 times higher in some rural and remote communities, compared to the national average.⁴ In 2020–21, hospitalisation rates for heart, stroke and vascular disease were 1.4 times higher for remote and very remote populations, compared to people in major cities.² Similarly, in 2017–19, people living in remote and very remote areas were 1.4 times as likely to die from heart, stroke and vascular disease as people in major cities.² Indeed, the RFDS finds that in some of the most remote and isolated places of our country, such as parts of the Northern Territory and Western Australia, people were between four and 10 times more likely to die from ischaemic heart disease than the national average.

Further, Indigenous peoples, more than half of whom live outside major cities, experience heart, stroke and vascular disease at higher rates and at younger ages. In 2020–21, Indigenous peoples were 1.8 times as likely to be hospitalised and in 2017–19 were 1.8 times as likely to die from heart, stroke and vascular disease as non-Indigenous Australians.²

In this report, the RFDS provides an in-depth analysis of over 31,000 aeromedical retrievals conducted in the five years between January 2017 and December 2021 that were for heart, stroke and vascular disease – around 118 per week. We found that over the five-year period, the RFDS provided aeromedical retrievals for heart, stroke and vascular disease from 522 unique locations across Australia, with the largest proportion being undertaken in Queensland, followed by Western Australia, South Australia, the Northern Territory and New South Wales. Of these retrievals, 16.8% or 5,106 were for Indigenous peoples, most frequently in the 40–59-year age group, as compared to the 60–79-year age group for non-Indigenous Australians. And while almost double the number of retrievals were provided for heart, stroke and vascular disease among non-Indigenous males compared to females, retrieval rates of Indigenous males and females were similar.

To fully understand the prevalence and burden of heart, stroke and vascular diseases, this report considers, in detail, the specific sub-types that necessitated an RFDS retrieval, as well as geographic and demographic information.

Consistent with the reasons for hospitalisation across Australia, the main heart, stroke or vascular disease resulting in an RFDS aeromedical retrieval was ischaemic heart disease. This accounted for over 60 RFDS retrievals every week, from 424 unique locations during the study period. Acute myocardial infarction, or heart attack, accounted for more than three-quarters of these retrievals by the RFDS, with our data further aligning with national data, demonstrating that Indigenous peoples retrieved for a heart attack were much younger than non-Indigenous Australians. Indigenous peoples accounted for 17.6% of these retrievals and were younger, with the most patient retrievals occurring between 30 and 50 years compared to 60 to 80 years for non-Indigenous Australians.

Previous research has demonstrated that Indigenous peoples were three times as likely as non-Indigenous Australians to have a heart attack, and more than twice as likely to die from ischemic heart disease, though they were half as likely to get angiography, angioplasty or stents.⁵ There is strong evidence that acute heart, stroke and vascular disease events are largely preventable, especially with early diagnosis and treatment.⁶

As identified in the *Best for the Bush: Rural and Remote Health Base Line 2022¹* report, primary healthcare is at the forefront for the delivery of services to identify, prevent, and manage heart, stroke and vascular disease risk.⁷ Modifiable risk factors associated with heart, stroke and vascular disease, which can be managed in the primary healthcare setting, include blood pressure, cholesterol, diet, physical activity, weight, smoking status and alcohol intake.⁸

A team supporting someone who has had a heart attack could include a cardiothoracic surgeon, cardiologist, general practitioner, physiotherapist, occupational therapist, cardiac nurse, dietician and access to a cardiac rehabilitation program.² Cardiac rehabilitation programs provide access to these specialists and improve outcomes. However, in areas where primary healthcare is limited, access to consistent, comprehensive and multidisciplinary care is more difficult.

We know that access to adequate or comprehensive primary health care is poor in many parts of rural, and particularly remote, Australia. According to the RFDS Service Planning and Operational Tool, which maps services in rural and remote areas against population, 22,003 people in remote and very remote Australia in 2023 do not have any access to a primary healthcare service within a 60-minute drive time, that being just one requirement for reasonable access to care.¹ It is also the case that even a 60-minute drive time is a significant undertaking in many places throughout rural and remote areas owing to factors such as difficult terrain, weather conditions, poor phone and internet connectivity in case of emergency, the poor condition of roads and a person's ability to access transport. Similarly, affordability, cultural appropriateness, availability and frequency or mode of delivery of a service impacts access to care.¹

Unsurprisingly, the RFDS found that, with the exception of nurses, the distribution of the primary healthcare workforce (per 100,000 head of population) is significantly lacking in rural and remote areas.¹

There is no doubt this impacts the prevention and management of heart, stroke and vascular disease for people living in these areas. Heart, stroke and vascular disease rates worsen by remoteness and socioeconomic status. RFDS retrieval data reflects the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare data and demonstrates that areas that have the highest prevalence of heart, stroke and vascular disease are more remote and have lower socioeconomic status. The RFDS Service Planning and Operational Tool shows that remote communities and low socioeconomic areas have less access to healthcare services. Indeed, most aeromedical retrievals for heart, stroke, and vascular disease came from areas without healthcare service provision, including lack of cardiac services and chronic disease management. For stroke care, only 3% of Australians who live in rural and remote areas received care in a specialist stroke unit in 2021, compared to 77% of people who live in major cities.⁹

The COVID-19 pandemic impacted chronic disease management due to isolation caused by lockdowns.¹ Although lockdowns may have reduced the impact of COVID-19 on populations, they also disrupted the delivery of primary healthcare services. Like many service providers, RFDS primary healthcare teams were unable to deliver services to rural and remote communities, or across state borders. The World Health Organization has identified that backlogs and delays in non-emergency health care caused by the COVID-19 pandemic have impacted populations across the world.¹⁰ Primary health care has been affected, leading to late diagnosis of chronic diseases, as well as inadequate screening, follow-up and inconsistent public health control measures of patients.¹⁰

Through the analysis of RFDS retrieval data as related to specific heart, stroke and vascular disease across rural and remote Australia, this report shines a light on where cardiac services are most needed, and based on this analysis, the RFDS makes the following recommendations and is committed to working with governments, communities, partners and other services to ensure the following:

1. Equitable access to comprehensive primary healthcare services in rural and remote areas, including specific cardiac care.

As identified in the RFDS *Best for the Bush: Rural and Remote Health Base Line 2022*¹ report, there must be equitable access to services, equitable use of services and equitable health outcomes for those in rural and remote areas as compared to other parts of Australia. This includes around cardiac care, noting in particular the increased risk factors, burden and impacts of heart, stroke and vascular diseases for rural and remote Australians, and the absence of services in many locations. Ultimately, prevention is key, while early detection and effective management of those with heart, stroke and vascular disease will save lives and reduce the need for emergency aeromedical retrievals and hospital admissions. Given the significantly higher rates across rural and remote Australia, particular attention must be given to preventing coronary heart disease and effective management to reduce the rates of heart attack. Those in rural and remote Australia must also have timely access to the best care possible; for example, ensuring those who suffer a stroke receive specialised care, as do those in metropolitan areas.

Ensuring adequate cardiac care in rural and remote Australia must include:

Primary prevention

Rural and remote populations have higher rates of modifiable risk factors contributing to heart, stroke and vascular disease. Primary healthcare providers can have a positive impact on patients making changes through counselling and advice, health checks and care plans, and programs such as smoking cessation and support to access dental services. People living in rural and remote areas should have equitable access to these services. For this to succeed, we need to raise the awareness of health checks among health professionals and the community, and provide rural health professionals with the resources, including funding and training, to support this activity – particularly as it relates to coronary heart disease. This is pertinent given we know that 64% of eligible patients between 45 and 74 years have not had a Heart Health Check.

Secondary prevention

Those who have had an acute episode, or are living with a chronic heart, stroke and vascular disease require access to secondary prevention measures such as rehabilitation and chronic disease management. These services are often based in major city areas of Australia and are inaccessible to rural and remote Australians. Increased services should be delivered in rural and remote locations, and innovative outreach models of care, such as remote monitoring, hospital in the home, and phone-based, home-based and online cardiac rehabilitation

services, should be supported to ensure accessibility. Further integration and efficiencies can be achieved by combining primary and secondary measures with community programs, which will allow services to target larger populations, increasing the benefits and making them cost effective.

Targeted prevention and management plans for the most at-risk populations and locations

The RFDS repeats the recommendation of the *Best for the Bush: Rural and Remote Health Base Line 2022*¹ report that comprehensive primary healthcare plans be developed for the most at-risk populations and locations. This should include for heart, stroke and vascular disease with initiatives based on evidence of the most effective prevention activities and interventions, paired with comprehensive monitoring and tracking. This should particularly include both Indigenous and non-Indigenous males. Findings in this report show that non-Indigenous Australians aged over 45 years and Indigenous peoples aged over 30 years in rural and remote Australia should receive additional intervention, information and prevention services addressing risk factors for heart, stroke and vascular diseases.

2. Supporting fit-for-purpose funding models and models of care for the prevention and management of heart, stroke and vascular diseases in rural and remote Australia.

To achieve access to comprehensive cardiac care in rural and remote Australia, additional resources are required to support targeted, innovative and fit-for-purpose services for rural and remote Australians. This report shows that innovative programs, such as the Integrated Cardiovascular Clinical Network and Australian Stroke Alliance, are available and successful. Supporting additional and expanded services models must include:

- Increased access to multidisciplinary teams that is relevant and appropriate to the needs of individual communities, through co-designed models of care that are culturally appropriate;
- Adequate resourcing, education and training of general practitioners in cardiac prevention and treatment, particularly where they lead primary healthcare teams;
- The use of telehealth, remote monitoring and digital approaches to supplement face-to-face services and increase access levels;
- > Adequate and sustainable long-term funding models for the rural and remote context, which may include blended payments (e.g. Medicare Benefits Schedule, My Medicare), incentive payments and targeted initiatives;
- > Coordinated service planning across different elements of the health system, and between the Commonwealth and state and territory governments, to ensure duplication and inefficiencies are avoided; and
- > Additional and sustainable support for research and evaluation to ensure impact and effectiveness of interventions to ensure evidence-based outcomes that takes into account social and economic wellbeing.

3. Better data collection and integration.

Work must be undertaken to better collect and coordinate data related to the incidence, treatment and outcomes associated with heart, stroke and vascular diseases in rural, and particularly remote Australia. This should include:

- > Linkage of 'time-to-treatment' data, with a focus on heart disease and stroke through development of a national approach to collection and monitoring;
- Improvements in hospital transition of rural and remote patients back to community, including the provision of clear and culturally appropriate discharge plans, with a focus on post-discharge support planning;
- Improvements in discharge summary quality, provision of discharge summaries to rural and remote healthcare providers, and the sharing of patient medical records across professionals essential for rehabilitation and management;
- > Costing avoidable hospitalisations for heart, stroke and vascular disease as a result of preventative primary healthcare services, to identify system savings through investment in primary healthcare services; and
- > Expanding clinical databases to improve data collection from rural and remote areas; for example, Australian Stroke Clinical Registry and cardiac rehabilitation registries.

The RFDS is committed to ensuring only the best for the bush, achieved through adequate, appropriate, timely and comprehensive care that ensures the highest standards of health and wellbeing, no matter where in Australia you live.

Chapter 1: About heart, stroke and vascular disease

1.1 Introduction

Almost 30 years ago, the RFDS produced a Best for the Bush strategy document,¹¹ focused on improving health service delivery to rural and remote Australians. The RFDS continues to pursue this, and the objective of improved health outcomes in rural and remote areas, embarking on an annual report series. In 2023, the RFDS presented the latest data on the health of rural and remote Australians, alongside RFDS aeromedical retrieval data and evidence on service gaps, which identified current health issues that most urgently need attention from service providers, funders and policy makers.¹

The Best for the Bush: Rural and Remote Health Base Line 2022¹ report demonstrated that diseases of the circulatory system were the main reason for an aeromedical retrieval in 2021–22, accounting for more than one in five (22%) RFDS aeromedical retrievals.¹ Diseases of the circulatory system^a are more commonly referred to as cardiovascular disease, heart disease, or heart, stroke and vascular disease.

Heart, stroke and vascular disease is a broad term that encompasses a range of diseases and conditions that affect the heart and blood vessels, including, for example, angina, heart attack and stroke.² Heart, stroke and vascular disease is often associated with a build-up of fatty deposits inside the arteries (atherosclerosis) and an increased risk of blood clots.¹² Heart, stroke and vascular disease can be systemic and widespread, and can affect multiple organs, including the heart, brain, kidneys and eyes.¹²

This in-focus report provides an in-depth analysis of heart, stroke and vascular disease in rural and remote Australia. The report:

- Compares the prevalence of heart, stroke and vascular disease in rural and remote Australia with major cities;
- > Presents comprehensive RFDS data on heart, stroke and vascular disease within its service footprint, including a multi-year analysis of aeromedical retrieval data;
- Identifies specific gaps in access to services for heart, stroke and vascular disease for people in rural and remote Australia in order to contribute to an evidence-informed response to address these issues;
- Describes the role of primary healthcare, including RFDS primary healthcare services, in supporting improved heart, stroke and vascular health;
- Provides examples of models of care that address sub-types of heart, stroke and vascular disease; and
- > Presents a series of recommendations to support improved heart, stroke and vascular health for people in rural and remote Australia.

a The terms 'diseases of the circulatory system', 'cardiovascular disease', 'heart disease', and 'heart, stroke and vascular disease' are used interchangeably in this report.

1.2 Defining rural and remote Australia

Australia is a vast continent, spanning 7.69 million square kilometres and is the world's sixth largest country by total area.¹³

The Australian Statistical Geography Standard Remoteness Structure defines remoteness areas in five classes of relative remoteness: major cities, inner regional, outer regional, remote, and very remote (Figure 1.1). These remoteness areas are centred on the Accessibility Remoteness Index of Australia, which is based on the road distances people have to travel for services.¹⁴

This report uses the term 'rural and remote' to cover any area outside of Australia's major cities.¹⁵

Figure 1.1 Remoteness areas of Australia



Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics (2021).20

1.3 Australian population by remoteness

Major cities comprise only 0.3% of Australia's land mass,¹⁶ yet the majority of Australians live in these areas. Of Australia's estimated resident population of 25,688,079 in June 2021, just over seven million people lived in rural and remote Australia with around half a million living in remote or very remote Australia (Table 1.1).¹⁷ The remaining population is not evenly distributed throughout the country – 18.2% live in inner regional areas, 8.2% in outer regional areas, 1.1% in remote areas, and 0.8% in very remote areas.¹⁷

| Table 1.1. Austr | alia's population | by remoteness areas, | 2021 |
|------------------|-------------------|----------------------|------|
|------------------|-------------------|----------------------|------|

| Remoteness area | Number (N) | Per cent (%) |
|------------------|------------|--------------|
| Major cities | 18,414,552 | 71.7% |
| Inner regional | 4,683,923 | 18.2% |
| Outer regional | 2,096,218 | 8.2% |
| Remote | 297,990 | 1.1% |
| Very remote | 195,396 | 0.8% |
| Total population | 25,688,079 | 100% |

Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics (2021).22

1.3.1 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples

As at 30 June 2021, 896,265 people identified as Indigenous, representing 3.5% of the total Australian population.¹⁸ The proportion of the total population who identify as Indigenous increased with remoteness.¹⁸

Among Australia's Indigenous peoples, 38.5% live in major cities, 44.2% live in inner and outer regional areas, and 17.3% live in remote and very remote areas combined (Table 1.2).¹⁸ Of the total population in remote and very remote areas (combined), 31.5% is Indigenous.¹⁸ It is estimated that by the year 2031, there will be around 1.1 million Indigenous peoples.^{18,19}

Table 1.2 Australia's Indigenous population by remoteness areas, 2021

| Remoteness area | Ν | % | Proportion of total population that is Indigenous (%) |
|--------------------------|---------|-------|--|
| Major cities | 344,765 | 38.5% | 1.9% |
| Inner and outer regional | 395,946 | 44.2% | 5.8% |
| Remote and very remote | 155,554 | 17.3% | 31.5% |
| Total | 896,265 | 100% | 3.5% |

Source: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (2021).6

1.4 Health of rural and remote Australians

Despite higher levels of life satisfaction,²⁰ rural and remote Australians have poorer access to health care, travel greater distances to receive medical services, experience higher rates of ill health and potentially preventable hospitalisations, and demonstrate higher levels of mortality, morbidity and health and disease risk factors.^{1,21,22}

1.4.1 Health risk factors

Health risk factors are attributes, characteristics or exposures that increase the likelihood of a person developing a disease or health problem.²² Many health problems can be prevented by reducing exposure to modifiable risk factors.²²

The most common modifiable risk factors impacting rural and remote Australians include smoking, overweight and obesity, poor diet, alcohol and drug misuse, insufficient physical activity and high blood pressure.²² All these risk factors can play a role in the development of heart, stroke and vascular disease.

- In 2019, people in remote and very remote areas were almost two times as likely as those in major cities to smoke daily (19.2% compared with 9.8%).²³ Smoking increases the risk of heart disease and stroke.²⁴
- In 2018, more people in inner regional (71.0%) and outer regional and remote (70.3%) areas were overweight or obese, compared with major cities (65.1%).²² Obesity is linked to the development of many chronic conditions, including heart, stroke and vascular disease.²⁵
- The 2020–21 National Health Survey demonstrated that 15.5% of respondents in outer regional and remote areas did not engage in any physical activity on a regular basis (zero minutes) and 71.5% did not meet current Australian activity guidelines.²⁶ Low levels of physical activity are a major risk factor for several chronic conditions.²⁷ Without sufficient physical activity, people are at increased risk of heart, stroke and vascular disease, overweight and obesity, high blood pressure and high blood cholesterol.²⁷

The 2017–18 National Health Survey found that rates of high blood pressure were similar across all remoteness areas and ranged from 21.5% in major cities to 23.5% in outer regional and remote areas.²² High blood pressure is associated with increased risk of heart attack, stroke, heart failure and kidney disease.²⁸

Additional risk factors for heart, stroke and vascular disease include a family history of heart, stroke or vascular disease; diabetes; high cholesterol; being Indigenous; being male; and being over 50 years of age.¹²

1.4.2 Social determinants of health

The health outcomes of rural and remote Australians are also impacted by the social determinants of health, which include social, economic, environmental, political, behavioural and biological factors, and cultural perceptions.²⁹

Recent research found that greater social adversity, defined by adverse social determinants of health, was linked to higher burden of heart, stroke and vascular disease risk factors and poorer health outcomes, including increased likelihood of stroke, heart attack, ischaemic heart disease (a sub-type of heart, stroke and vascular disease), heart failure and mortality.³⁰ In contrast, favourable social conditions had protective effects on heart, stroke and vascular disease.^{30,31}

In general, people in rural and remote areas experience lower levels of education; lower levels of employment and lower household incomes; higher occupational risks and hazards, including physical risks and workplace pressures and stressors associated with farming and mining; the need for more long-distance travel; poorer access to fresh foods; and poorer access to health services.¹⁶ Rural and remote Australians are also more likely to be of lower socioeconomic status, to experience greater health risk factors,¹⁶ to experience greater social isolation, and have poorer health literacy than people living in major cities.³²

Indigenous peoples, who comprise a large proportion of rural and remote Australians, are further disadvantaged compared to their non-Indigenous counterparts, experiencing higher rates of illnesses, injuries, deaths and hospitalisations than non-Indigenous Australians, and these increase with the extent of remoteness.^{1,33} The RFDS is acutely aware the disparity in health outcomes for Indigenous peoples is also impacted by social determinants of Indigenous health, including the significant, long-lasting and ongoing impacts of dispossession; colonisation; loss of language and connection to the land; environmental deprivation; spiritual, emotional and mental disconnectedness; a lack of cultural respect; lack of opportunities for self-determination; poor educational attainment; reduced opportunities for employment; poor housing; negative interactions with government systems; and systemic discrimination and intergenerational trauma, including through the Stolen Generations.^{1,34,35}

1.4.3 Access to health services

The health of rural and remote Australians, including their heart, stroke and vascular health, is also impacted by lack of access to appropriate health services, especially primary healthcare services, such as general practitioner and nursing services.^{1,36} These services are important for reducing hospital admissions as well as morbidity and mortality, and a lack of primary health care is a major contributing factor to higher rates of preventable hospitalisations and emergency situations in rural and remote Australia.^{37,38}

There are many factors that contribute to those in rural and remote Australia being able to access appropriate and effective services, and the very first is ensuring they are available. As one measure to inform improved planning, the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare proposed that to ensure reasonable access to primary health care, people should have access to, at a minimum, a general practitioner, nursing, oral health, mental health and Indigenous health services within a 60-minute drive time.^{36,39}

Through the RFDS Service Planning and Operational Tool, which maps service data and overlays this with population data, the RFDS has been able to identify where this is not the case. We found that in 2023, 22,003 people in remote and very remote Australia had no access to any type of primary healthcare service within a 60-minute drive time of their place of residence.¹

It is also noted that apart from the simple measure of a 60-minute drive time, there are many other barriers to access that must be addressed in work to develop a more comprehensive definition of reasonable access that is agreed by the rural health sector, funders and policy makers alike.

This needs to take into account affordability, cultural appropriateness, availability, and frequency or mode of delivery. Further, it does not account for a patient's ability to access transport; for example, a private motor vehicle or public transport, or the costs of doing so. It is also the case that even a 60-minute drive time is a significant undertaking in many places throughout rural and remote areas owing to factors such as difficult terrain, weather conditions or the poor condition of roads.¹

Prevention, early detection and effective management of people with heart, stroke and vascular disease can only be achieved by ensuring appropriate access to health services for people in rural and remote Australia.

1.5 Heart, stroke and vascular disease prevalence, mortality and morbidity

Heart, stroke, and vascular disease is a leading cause of mortality and morbidity worldwide.⁴⁰ In 2019, an estimated 17.9 million people died from heart stroke and vascular disease, representing 32% of global deaths.⁴⁰

1.5.1 Prevalence

In 2017–18 in Australia, almost 1.2 million people (6.2% of the adult population) self-reported one or more conditions related to heart, stroke and vascular disease.² The prevalence of self-reported heart, stroke and vascular disease among persons 18 and over in 2017–18 was similar across remoteness areas.² Age-standardised data demonstrated that 5.6% of people in major cities had heart, stroke and vascular disease, compared to 6.0% of people in inner regional areas and 5.1% of people in outer regional and remote areas.²

1.5.2 Hospitalisations

In 2020–21, 600,217 people were hospitalised for heart, stroke and vascular disease in Australia.² This represented 5.1% of all hospitalisations in Australia.² Males (2,160 per 100,000 population) were 1.6 times as likely as females (1,356 per 100,000 population) to be hospitalised for heart, stroke and vascular disease in Australia in 2020–21.²

People in remote and very remote Australia (2,553 per 100,000 population) were 1.4 times as likely as people in major cities (1,861 per 100,000 population) to be hospitalised for heart, stroke and vascular disease in Australia in 2020–21.² Males in remote and very remote Australia (2,841 per 100,000 population) were 1.2 times as likely as males (2,326 per 100,000 population) in major cities to be hospitalised, and females in remote and very remote Australia (2,233 per 100,000 population) were 1.5 times as likely as females (1,448 per 100,000 population) in major cities to be hospitalised for heart, stroke and vascular disease in Australia in 2020–21.²

In 2020–21, 17,275 Indigenous peoples were hospitalised with heart, stroke and vascular disease.² The age-standardised rate of hospitalisation of Indigenous peoples (3,318 per 100,000 population) was 1.8 times higher than the non-Indigenous rate (1,845 per 100,000 population).²

Higher hospitalisation rates in remote and very remote areas were most likely influenced by the higher proportion of Indigenous peoples living in these areas, who have higher rates of heart, stroke and vascular disease than other Australians.²

1.5.3 Deaths

Almost 25% (N=42,686) of all deaths in 2021 were attributed to heart, stroke and vascular disease – equivalent to 117 deaths per day.⁴¹

In 2017–19, people living in remote and very remote areas (172 deaths per 100,000 population) were 1.4 times as likely to die from heart, stroke and vascular disease as people in major cities (124 deaths per 100,000 population).²

Between 2017 and 2019, 2,100 Indigenous peoples died from heart, stroke and vascular disease – the rate of death for Indigenous peoples (238 deaths per 100,000 population) was 1.8 times as high as for non-Indigenous Australians (130 deaths per 100,000).²

From 2016–20, premature deaths from heart, stroke and vascular disease, for people aged 0–74 years, were high in many rural and remote communities throughout Australia. Analysis of data from the Public Health Information Development Unit demonstrated that the standardised death ratio for heart, stroke and vascular disease was higher than the national average in some areas (Table 1.3).⁴ For example, in Halls Creek/Kununurra (Western Australia) the standardised death rate was 4.32 times higher than the national average.⁴ This means, for example, if you lived in Halls Creek/Kununurra in 2016–20, relative to all of Australia, you were 4.32 times more likely to die from heart, stroke and vascular disease.⁴

| State or Territory | Region: Statistical Area Level 3 | Standardised death ratio |
|-----------------------|---|--------------------------|
| Western Australia | Halls Creek/Kununurra | 4.32 |
| | Leinster-Leonora | 3.64 |
| | South Hedland | 3.54 |
| | Derby–West Kimberley/Roebuck | 3.18 |
| Northern Territory | Anindilyakwa/East Arnhem/Nhulunbuy | 5.39 |
| | Barkley/Tennant Creek | 4.44 |
| | Elsey/Gulf/Victoria Rover | 4.29 |
| | Alice Springs–Remote | 3.80 |
| South Australia | Anangu Pitjantjatjara Yankunytjatjara (APY) Lands | 3.92 |
| | Ceduna/West Coast (SA)/Western | 2.28 |
| | Coober Pedy/Outback | 1.92 |
| | Port Augusta/Quorn–Lake Gilles | 1.80 |
| Victoria | Bendigo | 2.27 |
| | Moe–Newborough/Morwell | 2.08 |
| | Heathcote | 1.91 |
| | Robinvale | 1.90 |
| Queensland | Mount Isa | 2.92 |
| | Carpentaria/Mount Isa Surrounds | 2.39 |
| | Far North (Queensland) | 1.75 |
| | Charleville/Far Central West/Far South West | 1.90 |
| New South Wales | Bourke-Brewarrina/Walgett-Lightning Ridge | 2.96 |
| | Wellington | 2.44 |
| | Moree | 2.28 |
| | Cobar/Coonamble/Nyngan–Warren | 1.97 |
| Tasmania [*] | Acton–Upper Burnie/Burnie–Wivenhoe | 2.11 |
| | Parklands-Camdale/ Somerset/Wynyard | 1.90 |
| | Longford/Northern Midlands | 1.88 |
| | West Ulverstone | 1.70 |

Table 1.3. Rural and remote Statistical Area Level 3 regions in each Australian state/territory that had the highest standardised death ratios for heart, stroke and vascular disease, for people aged 0–74 years, 2016–20

Note: *Excludes Greater Hobart and Launceston.

Source: Derived from Public Health Information Development Unit data (2023).4

Between 2016 and 2020, ischaemic heart disease was the leading cause of death across all remoteness areas in Australia.³ During the same period, the age-standardised death rate from ischaemic heart disease in very remote Australia (90 deaths per 100,000) was 1.7 times the rate in major cities (53 deaths per 100,000).³

Specifically, in 2021, ischaemic heart disease was the leading cause of death in Australia and accounted for 17,331 (50 deaths per 100,000 population) deaths, equivalent to 10.1% of all deaths and 40.6% of heart, stroke and vascular disease deaths.⁴¹ This was followed by dementia and Alzheimer's disease (N=15,940, 9.3%), and cerebrovascular disease^b (a sub-type of heart, stroke and vascular disease) (N=9,800, 5.7%).⁴¹

1.5.4 Burden of disease

Burden of disease is a measure of years of healthy life lost because of injury, illness or premature deaths in the population.⁴² Heart, stroke and vascular disease is a major contributor to the overall burden of disease in Australia and accounted for almost 13% of the total burden of disease in 2018.^{2,42} In 2018, Australians lost an estimated 646,000 years of healthy life (Disability Adjusted Life Years) due to heart, stroke and vascular disease.² The following selected risk factors contributed the most to the total burden of disease for heart, stroke and vascular disease in Australia: high blood pressure, dietary risks, overweight and obesity, high cholesterol, and tobacco use.⁴²

Between 2016 and 2020, total burden of disease rates of ischaemic heart disease were 2.2 times as high in remote and very remote parts of Australia compared to major cities.³

1.5.5 Other

More than 107 million prescriptions for cardiovascular medicines were dispensed in Australia in 2019–20, comprising 35% of total Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme prescriptions.² However, previous research found that prescription rates for medications such as beta blockers, ACE inhibitors, statins and warfarin, which are critical for treating heart, stroke and vascular diseases, were lower in rural and remote areas.⁴³

In 2018–19, 8.7% of total expenditure in the Australian health system (\$11.8 billion) was attributed to heart, stroke and vascular disease.²

b The terms 'cerebrovascular disease' and 'stroke' are used interchangeably in this report.

Chapter 2: RFDS aeromedical retrievals for heart, stroke and vascular disease

The RFDS is perhaps best known for its aeromedical retrieval service, which provides a mantle of safety across rural and remote areas. RFDS aeromedical retrievals are available throughout our service footprint 24-hours a day, seven days a week (24/7), supported by a 24/7 telehealth system to patients who are beyond reasonable access to health care and experience a medical emergency that requires transportation to hospital care. Aeromedical retrievals are made up of:

- > Primary evacuations, that being an emergency medical service and retrieval for those beyond normal medical infrastructure;⁴⁴
- > Inter-hospital transfers, that being transfer between hospitals;⁴⁴ and
- > Repatriations, transporting patients back to their communities.

Beyond our aeromedical retrieval service, the RFDS delivers a comprehensive suite of primary healthcare services, including GP, nursing, dental and mental health clinics throughout rural and remote areas of Tasmania, Victoria, South Australia, the Northern Territory, New South Wales, Queensland and Western Australia.¹ These are discussed further in Chapter four and described in detail in the *Best for the Bush: Rural and Remote Health Base Line 2022* report.

The Best for the Bush: Rural and Remote Health Base Line 2022¹ report also demonstrated that heart, stroke and vascular disease was the main reason for an aeromedical retrieval in 2021–22, comprising 21% of aeromedical retrievals.¹ Based on this finding, the RFDS sought to conduct a more comprehensive analysis of data to determine whether heart, stroke and vascular disease was consistently the leading reason for an aeromedical retrieval. This data is presented in the current chapter.

Comprehensive analyses into the sub-types of heart, stroke and vascular disease that comprised RFDS aeromedical retrievals is presented in Chapter three.

2.1 Methodology

To achieve this, the RFDS conducted an analysis of RFDS aeromedical retrieval data from primary evacuations and inter-hospital transfers that was collected during the five-year period from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021.

The methodology for this analysis is included at Appendix 1.

The RFDS uses the tenth edition of the International Classification of Diseases and Related Health Conditions (ICD-10) Australian Modification (AM) (ICD-10-AM) to code and classify health. Heart, stroke and vascular disease is classified under Chapter IX of the ICD-10-AM – diseases of the circulatory system. Diseases were further classified by ICD-10-AM sub-chapters (see Appendix 1).

2.2 Results

2.2.1 Types of RFDS retrievals

The RFDS provides primary evacuations, inter-hospital transfers and repatriation flights, which combined form our aeromedical retrieval services. More on these services are as follows:

- > Primary evacuation the provision of emergency medical services to victims of illness or accident who are in a serious or potentially life threatening condition who are beyond the normal medical infrastructure, that is they are not in reasonable proximity to a hospital or health facility, and who require transport and/or medical and nursing care during transport to the nearest suitable hospital (including all fixed-wing air transport services directly related to these emergency medical services). A primary evacuation could be necessary, for example, from the roadside, a large property, or small community without other services and is often for urgent, high acuity cases;
- Inter-hospital transfer the transfer of patients between one hospital to another hospital often in pursuit of more comprehensive or higher levels of care than is available at the initial facility, often following initial treatment, for example to get specialist treatment, further diagnostic testing or life-saving surgery. These retrievals form the bulk of RFDS retrieval activity, and while tasking arrangements vary state by state, this could include transporting patients from small rural hospitals or health facilities to metropolitan hospitals, or from metropolitan areas to other, larger metropolitan areas;
- > Repatriation the transportation of patients from tertiary hospitals back to their communities.

2.2.2 Summary data

Between 1 January 2017 and 31 December 2021, the RFDS retrieved more than 140,000 people from across Australia for a range of medical conditions. The highest number of retrievals were for heart, stroke and vascular disease, which accounted for 31,511 (22%) aeromedical retrievals, equivalent to more than 17 aeromedical retrievals per day.

These retrievals comprised 28,007 (91%) inter-hospital transfers and 2,788 (9%) primary evacuations. The remaining 716 aeromedical retrievals were repatriations and are excluded from further analyses, consistent with prior RFDS poublications.¹

Figure 2.1 shows the flight paths for inter-hospital transfers and primary evacuations for all patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for heart, stroke and vascular disease by the RFDS between 1 January 2017 and 31 December 2021.

22

Figure 2.1 Flight path for RFDS aeromedical retrievals of patients with heart, stroke and vascular disease, by flight type, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021



2.2.3 Patient characteristics

Figures 2.2 and 2.3 demonstrate the number of patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for heart, stroke and vascular disease, by five-year age group and Indigenous status, and gender and Indigenous status (respectively). The following was observed for RFDS aeromedical retrievals for heart, stroke and vascular disease between 1 January 2017 and 31 December 2021:

- > Patients retrieved were between the ages of 0 and 85+ years;
- > Non-Indigenous Australians accounted for 22,955 (75.6%) retrievals, Indigenous peoples accounted for 5,106 (16.8%) retrievals, and people who did not specify their Indigenous status accounted for 2,309 (7.6%) retrievals;
- > Non-Indigenous Australians and people who did not specify their Indigenous status were most frequently between the ages of 60 and 79 years; and
- > Indigenous peoples were most frequently between the ages of 40 and 59 years.

Figure 2.2 Number of patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for heart, stroke and vascular disease, by five-year age group and Indigenous status, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021



Figure 2.3 Number of patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for heart, stroke and vascular disease, by gender and Indigenous status, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021





Additional analyses demonstrated that between 1 January 2017 and 31 December 2021:

- > Non-Indigenous males (66.7%) were 2.0 times as likely as non-Indigenous females (33.3%) to undergo an aeromedical retrieval for heart stroke and vascular disease; and
- > Aeromedical retrieval rates for Indigenous males (51.5%) were similar to rates of Indigenous females (48.5%).

2.2.4 Aeromedical retrieval pick-up and drop-off locations

Data regarding the location from which a patient was retrieved (pick-up location) and transported to (drop-off location) was collected and is reported.

RFDS conducted aeromedical retrievals for heart, stroke and vascular disease from 522 unique locations across Australia. This comprised 12,591 retrievals in Queensland, 9,064 in Western Australia, 5,635 in South Australia, 1,355 in the Northern Territory, and 2,150 in New South Wales (Figure 2.4).

Figure 2.4. RFDS aeromedical retrieval pick-up locations for heart, stroke and vascular disease by Australian state and territory, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021



The majority of patients (n=24,326, 79%) were transferred to a major city for definitive care. This included 7,738 patients taken to a facility in Perth (Western Australia), 7,181 to a facility in Adelaide (South Australia), 533 to a facility in Sydney (New South Wales), 8,162 to a facility in Brisbane (Queensland) and 748 to a facility in Alice Springs (Northern Territory).

2.3 Heart Stroke and vascular disease hotspots

In addition to analysing RFDS aeromedical retrieval data, the RFDS examined internal data from its Service Planning and Operational Tool, and external data from the Primary Health Information Development Unit, to identify areas in rural and remote Australia that were most impacted by heart, stroke and vascular disease in terms of access to services and standardised death ratios for these conditions (Figure 2.5). These locations were determined from internal RFDS data, including the RFDS Service Planning and Operational Tool and aeromedical retrieval data; and external sources, including the Primary Health Information Development Unit, which incorporates data from multiple sources, including, for example, the Australian Bureau of Statistics and Mortality Over Regions and Time (MORT) books. Multiple communities were identified throughout rural and remote Australia.

Figure Figure 2.5. Rural and remote Australian communities worst affected by heart, stroke and vascular disease^{*,^}



Blue stars denote communities with the highest rates of heart, stroke and vascular disease.

[^]Locations were determined from internal RFDS data, including the RFDS Service Planning and Operational Tool and aeromedical retrieval data; and external sources, including the Primary Health Information Development Unit (2023).⁴ Source: Bardocz (2023).⁴⁵

2.4 Discussion

The RFDS provides aeromedical retrievals to people from rural and remote areas who require urgent care in a tertiary hospital. Not all components of care provided to people who are transported via an aeromedical retrieval by the RFDS are reported in national statistics. Analysis of aeromedical retrievals for heart, stroke and vascular disease, conducted between 1 January 2017 and 31 December 2021, demonstrated that heart, stroke and vascular diseases were a significant issue for people within the RFDS service footprint, comprising 22% of aeromedical retrievals.

Heart, stroke and vascular disease was a significant issue for both males and females. However, males comprised almost twice as many aeromedical retrievals for heart, stroke and vascular disease, suggesting that males in rural and remote Australia are likely to have increased numbers of risk factors for heart, stroke and vascular disease. This data is supported by national hospitalisation data, which demonstrated high rates of hospitalisation for males in remote and very remote Australia (2,841 per 100,000 population) for heart, stroke and vascular disease in Australia in 2020–21.²

The composition of RFDS aeromedical retrievals for heart, stroke and vascular disease by Indigenous status aligns with the proportion of the population in rural Australia. The data demonstrated that Indigenous peoples who underwent an RFDS aeromedical retrieval for heart, stroke and vascular disease were around 20 years younger than non-Indigenous Australians. A previous review of RFDS aeromedical data collected between 1 July 2019 and 30 October 2020 identified that, compared to non-Indigenous Australians, Indigenous peoples who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for heart, stroke and vascular disease had higher prevalence rates (229.0 per 1,000 (Indigenous) versus 152.0 per 1000 (non-Indigenous)) and were younger (48 years versus 55.6 years).⁴⁶ When adjusted for heart, stroke and vascular disease prevalence, remote Indigenous peoples were 1.6 times as likely to be hospitalised as non-remote Indigenous Australians and 1.2 times as likely as remote non-Indigenous Australians to be hospitalised.⁴⁶ It should be noted this analysis was conducted during COVID-19, which could have contributed to higher Indigenous hospitalisation rates for heart, stroke, and vascular disease. This was due to many of these patients being considered high risk for COVID-19.

Particularly looking at primary evacuations, where patients were retrieved from (pick-up location), and taken to (drop-off location), provides insight into the medical infrastructure across Australia. The areas where primary evacuations were highest often coincided with a lack of medical infrastructure and medical services. This is further explored in chapters three and four.

It should be noted that some capital cities (e.g. Brisbane and Adelaide) were identified as RFDS aeromedical retrieval pick-up locations, on occasion with high activity. These often represent interhospital transfers of patients from high acuity care (such as a dedicated stroke or cardiac unit) to lower acuity care, such as to a large regional or other metropolitan hospitals. These patients who underwent an inter-hospital transfer from a major city hospital may have still required comprehensive medical treatment, but no longer needed the high acuity services provided by specialist units.

Chapter 3. RFDS aeromedical retrievals for heart, stroke and vascular disease sub-types

3.1 Introduction

The RFDS sought to determine the sub-types of heart, stroke and vascular disease impacting rural and remote Australians, which necessitated an aeromedical retrieval to a tertiary hospital to receive escalation in care.

Some of these aeromedical retrievals may be preventable and occur because there is a lack of access to primary healthcare services as well as other preventative and chronic disease management services. For example, a previous review of RFDS aeromedical retrievals, which compared the acuity of aeromedical retrievals pre-COVID-19 (1 July 2018 to 31 December 2019) and post-COVID-19 (1 July 2020 to 31 December 2021) demonstrated a 25% increase in priority one retrievals (the most acute and time sensitive) post-COVID-19.¹ This suggests that the RFDS retrieved patients who were sicker after lockdowns.¹ Reduced access to primary health care during the pandemic may have contributed to the increase in priority one retrievals.¹

The information on heart, stroke and vascular disease sub-types is presented in order to recommend the types of services required to improve health outcomes for rural and remote Australians with heart, stroke and vascular disease, and determine where these services should be located.

28

3.2 Heart, stroke and vascular disease sub-types

There are several heart, stroke and vascular disease sub-types that impact Australians. Sub-types include:

- Ischaemic heart disease^c (also known as coronary heart disease) caused when the heart does not receive sufficient oxygen due to reduced blood supply.² It is most commonly caused by the build-up of plaque on the walls of arteries (atherosclerosis) near the heart.² It includes heart attack (myocardial infarction) and chest pain (angina);²
- Stroke^d (also known as cerebrovascular disease) occurs when a blood vessel supplying blood to the brain either suddenly becomes blocked (ischaemic stroke) or ruptures and begins to bleed (haemorrhagic stroke);²
- Heart failure and cardiomyopathy (often occur together) heart failure occurs when the heart becomes less effective at pumping blood around the body; cardiomyopathy occurs when the entire heart muscle, or a large part of it, is weakened;²
- > Atrial fibrillation an abnormal heart rhythm due to a disturbance in the electrical rhythm of the heart.² Atrial fibrillation increases the risk of a stroke;²
- > Peripheral arterial disease^e (also known as peripheral vascular disease) occurs when blood circulation to a body part outside of the heart or brain is reduced.²
- > Acute rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease acute rheumatic fever is an autoimmune response to an infection of the upper respiratory tract by group A streptococcus bacteria, causing potential inflammation in the heart and brain.² Rheumatic heart disease occurs when there is permanent damage to the heart as a result of acute rheumatic fever.²
- > Congenital heart disease describes a defect of the heart, heart valves or central blood vessels that is present at birth.²

3.2.1 Hospitalisations by sub-type

In 2020–21, more than 600,000 people were hospitalised for heart, stroke and vascular disease in Australia.² The principal sub-types of heart, stroke and vascular disease that resulted in hospitalisation in Australia 2020–21 included:

- > Ischaemic heart disease (22%);
- > Atrial fibrillation (13%);
- > Heart failure and cardiomyopathy (12%);
- > Cerebrovascular disease (11%);
- > Peripheral arterial disease (5.5%);
- > Hypertensive disease (2.7%); and
- > Rheumatic heart disease (0.8%).²

c The terms 'coronary heart disease' and 'ischaemic heart disease' are used interchangeably in this report.

d The terms 'cerebrovascular disease' and 'stroke' are used interchangeably in this report.

e The terms 'peripheral artery disease' and 'peripheral vascular disease' are used interchangeably in this report.

3.3 Methodology

Chapter two and Appendix 1 described the methodology for analysis of aeromedical retrieval data collected between 1 January 2017 and 31 December 2021.

The analysis demonstrated there were 28,007 (91%) inter-hospital transfers and 2,788 (9%) primary evacuations for heart, stroke and vascular disease during the five-year study period.

These aeromedical retrieval data were then classified into ICD-10-AM sub-chapters, to enable the data to be further analysed by heart, stroke and vascular disease sub-type. The results of the sub-type analysis are now presented.

Comprehensive data analysis was conducted for several sub-types of heart, stroke and vascular disease, as these accounted for the highest number of RFDS aeromedical retrievals for heart, stroke and vascular disease, or were notable for their impact on specific communities (e.g. Indigenous peoples were disproportionately affected by acute rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease). Data on the following sub-types are presented:

- Ischaemic heart disease (ICD-10-AM code I20-I25), with specific emphasis on acute myocardial infarction (I21);
- > Heart failure (I50);
- > Cerebrovascular disease (I60-I69); and
- > Acute rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease (I00-I09).

3.4 Results

Analysis of RFDS aeromedical retrieval data for heart, stroke and vascular disease, collected between 1 January 2017 and 31 December 2021, demonstrated that retrievals were highest for the following heart, stroke and disease sub-types:

- > Ischaemic heart disease (N=15,503, 49.2%), particularly acute myocardial infarction;
- > Other forms of heart disease (N=7,181, 22.8%), particularly heart failure; and
- > Cerebrovascular disease (N=4,548, 14.4%).

The remaining sub-types accounted for 4,279 (13.6%) aeromedical retrievals.

3.5 Ischaemic heart disease

In 2020–21, an estimated 571,000 Australians aged 18 and over (2.9% of the adult population) were living with ischaemic heart disease.⁴⁷

Between 2016 and 2020, ischaemic heart disease was the leading cause of death across all remoteness areas in Australia.³ During the same period, the age-standardised death rate from ischaemic heart disease in very remote Australia (90 deaths per 100,000) was 1.7 times the rate in major cities (53 deaths per 100,000).³

In 2021, ischaemic heart disease was the leading cause of death in Australia and accounted for 17,331 deaths (50 deaths per 100,000 population), equivalent to 10.1% of all deaths and 40.6% of heart, stroke and vascular disease deaths.⁴¹

Furthermore, ischaemic heart disease was the leading cause of death in Australia for Indigenous peoples in 2021.⁴¹ Research in 2006 demonstrated that, compared to other Australians, Indigenous peoples had three times the rate of heart attack and 1.4 times the out-of-hospital death rate.⁵ When in hospital, Indigenous peoples were more than twice as likely to die from ischaemic heart disease, half as likely to get angiography, angioplasty or stent, and 20% less likely to receive coronary bypass surgery.⁵

In 2020–21, there were 160,000 hospitalisations for ischaemic heart disease, equivalent to 1.4% of all hospitalisations, and 27% of all hospitalisations for heart, stroke and vascular disease in Australia.² The rate of hospitalisation among Indigenous peoples (1,038 per 100,000 population) was 2.1 times as high as for non-Indigenous Australians (483 per 100,000 population).² People living in remote and very remote areas (745 per 100,000 population) were 1.5 times as likely as people in major cities (486 per 100,000 population) to be hospitalised for ischaemic heart disease in 2020–21.²

From 2016–20, premature deaths from ischaemic heart disease were highest in the Northern Territory and Western Australia, with a standardised death ratio 4 to 10 times higher than the national average⁴ (Table 3.1).

| Table 3.1 Rural and remote Statistical Area Level 3 regions in each Australian state/territory |
|--|
| that had the highest standardised death ratios for ischaemic heart disease, for people agec |
| 0-74 years, 2016-20* |

| State or Territory | Region: Statistical Area Level 3 | Standardised death ratio |
|-----------------------|---|--------------------------|
| Western Australia | Leinster-Leonora | 7.47 |
| | Halls Creek/Kununurra | 5.07 |
| | Meekatharra | 4.21 |
| | South Hedland | 4.14 |
| Northern Territory | Barkley/Tennant Creek | 9.76 |
| | Anindilyakwa/East Arnhem/Nhulunbuy | 7.57 |
| | Elsey/Gulf/Victoria Rover | 6.76 |
| | Daly–Tiwi–West Arnhem | 6.31 |
| South Australia | Whyalla/Whyalla North | 2.25 |
| | Wallaroo | 1.99 |
| | Coober Pedy/Outback | 1.97 |
| | Barmera/Berri | 1.93 |
| Victoria | Heathcote | 2.94 |
| | Robinvale | 2.30 |
| | Moe-Newborough/Morwell | 2.24 |
| | Corio-Lovely Banks/Norlane | 2.15 |
| Queensland | Mount Isa | 3.48 |
| | Berserker/Lakes Creek/Rockhampton City | 2.77 |
| | Carpentaria/Mount Isa Surrounds | 2.73 |
| | Charleville/Far Central West/Far South West | 2.39 |
| New South Wales | Bourke-Brewarrina/Walgett-Lightning Ridge | 3.08 |
| | Cobar/Coonamble/Nyngan-Warren | 2.08 |
| | Moree | 1.97 |
| | Glen Innes/Tenterfield | 1.94 |
| Tasmania [^] | West Coast (Tasmania)/Wilderness | 2.42 |
| | Longford/Northern Midlands | 2.41 |
| | Acton–Upper Burnie/Burnie–Wivenhoe | 2.02 |
| | Ulverstone | 1.86 |
| | | |

*Notes: *Data not published on regions where there were small numbers of people impacted by an illness, to protect privacy (e.g. APY Lands). ^Excludes Greater Hobart and Launceston.

Source: Derived from Public Health Information Development Unit data (2023).⁴

3.5.1 RFDS aeromedical retrievals for ischaemic heart disease

Ischaemic heart disease was the main reason for an RFDS aeromedical retrieval for heart, stroke and vascular disease between 1 January 2017 and 31 December 2021 and accounted for 15,503 retrievals, equivalent to 60 retrievals per week.

3.5.2 Patient characteristics

Figures 3.1 and 3.2 demonstrate the number of patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for ischaemic heart disease, by five-year age group and Indigenous status, and gender and Indigenous status (respectively). The following was observed for RFDS aeromedical retrievals for ischaemic heart disease between 1 January 2017 and 31 December 2021:

- > Indigenous peoples accounted for 2,479 (17.6%) retrievals;
- Males (N=9,554, 67.5%) were 2.1 times as likely to undergo an aeromedical retrieval as females (N=4,608; 32.5%);
 - Non-Indigenous males (N=7,787, 70.4%) were 2.4 times as likely to be retrieved as non-Indigenous females (N=3,276, 29.6%);
 - Indigenous males (N=1,767, 57.0%) were 1.3 times as likely to be retrieved as Indigenous females (N=1,332, 43.0%);
- > Patients retrieved were between the ages of 0 and 85+ years;
- > Indigenous peoples were younger than non-Indigenous Australians when retrieved;
 - Most retrievals of Indigenous peoples were for people aged 30-50 years; and
 - Most retrievals of non-Indigenous Australians were for people aged 60-80 years.

Figure 3.1 Number of patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for ischaemic heart disease, by five-year age group and Indigenous status, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021







Figure 3.2 Number of patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for ischaemic heart disease, by gender and Indigenous status, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021

3.5.3 Aeromedical retrieval pick-up and drop-off locations

Patients with ischaemic heart disease were retrieved from 424 unique Australian airstrip locations and taken to one of 112 locations to receive treatment. Patients were retrieved from towns of various sizes, including from large regional areas to small, very remote communities, particularly in primary evacuations, including the Kiwirrkurra Community (Northern Territory), which is the most remote community in Australia (Figure 3.3). There were 3,643 retrievals from South Australia and the Northern Territory, 5,963 from Queensland, 966 from New South Wales and 3,432 from Western Australia.



Figure 3.3 Aeromedical retrieval pick-up locations for ischaemic heart disease, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021

Most inter-hospital transfers following initial treatment were from larger facilities in Rockhampton and Hervey Bay (Queensland); Alice Springs (Northern Territory); Mount Gambier (South Australia); and Broken Hill (New South Wales).

The facilities that received the most patients (drop-off locations) were in the state capitals and included Royal Adelaide Hospital and Flinders Medical Centre (South Australia); Fiona Stanley Hospital and Sir Charles Gardiner Hospital (Western Australia); The Prince Charles Hospital, Royal Brisbane Hospital and Royal Women's Hospital (Queensland); and Dubbo Base Hospital and The Royal Prince Alfred (New South Wales). Most retrievals from Far West New South Wales were received by the Royal Adelaide Hospital as it was the closest facility.

3.6 Acute myocardial infarction

Acute myocardial infarction, commonly known as heart attack, is a type of ischaemic heart disease and was responsible for a large proportion of RFDS aeromedical retrievals for ischaemic heart disease.

3.6.1 RFDS aeromedical retrievals for acute myocardial infarction

Acute myocardial infarction accounted for almost three-quarters (N=10,380, 74%) of RFDS aeromedical retrievals coded under ischaemic heart disease.

Between 1 January 2017 and 31 December 2021, the RFDS retrieved 10,220 patients for acute myocardial infarction, which equates to 39 patients a week. Acute myocardial infarction accounted for 11% of all aeromedical retrievals and 19% of primary evacuations, which was more than double the average number of primary evacuations for other heart, stroke and vascular diseases.

3.6.2 Patient characteristics

Figures 3.4 and 3.5 demonstrate the number of patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for acute myocardial infarction, by five-year age group and Indigenous status, and gender and Indigenous status (respectively). Between 1 January 2017 and 31 December 2021:

- > Non-Indigenous Australians accounted for 7,781 (81.8%) retrievals and Indigenous peoples accounted for 1,735 (18.2%) retrievals;
- Males (N=8,163, 67.5%) were 1.8 times as likely to undergo an aeromedical retrieval as females (N=4,608; 32.5%);
 - Non-Indigenous males (N=6,999, 70.4%) were 2.2 times as likely to be retrieved as non-Indigenous females (N=3,381, 32.6%);
 - Indigenous males (N=1,164, 56.9%) were 1.3 times as likely to be retrieved as Indigenous females (N=883, 43.1%);
- > Patients retrieved were between the ages of 0–85+ years;
- > Indigenous peoples were younger than non-Indigenous Australians when retrieved;
 - 1.9% of Indigenous peoples retrieved for acute myocardial infarction were aged 25–29 years compared to 0.3% of non-Indigenous Australians;
 - 6.5% of Indigenous peoples retrieved for acute myocardial infarction were aged 35–39 years compared to 1.2% of non-Indigenous Australians; and
 - 11.3% of Indigenous peoples retrieved for acute myocardial infarction were aged 40–44 years compared to 2.5% of non-Indigenous Australians.

Figure 3.4 Number of patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for acute myocardial infarction, by five-year age group and Indigenous status, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021



Figure 3.5 Number of patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for acute myocardial infarction, by gender and Indigenous status, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021



BEST FOR THE BUSH IN FOCUS: HEART, STROKE AND VASCULAR DISEASE

3.6.3 Aeromedical retrieval pick-up and drop-off locations

Figure 3.6. shows aeromedical retrieval pick-up locations for acute myocardial infarction.

RFDS primary evacuation locations for myocardial infarction show retrievals for patients from some of the most remote Australian communities, including Kowanyama, Aurukun, and Pormpuraaw (Queensland); Jurien Bay, Mount Magnet, and Meekathara (Western Australia); and Uluru, Yuendumu and Yalata Mission (Northern Territory and South Australia). The highest number of inter-hospital transfers were from Rockhampton, Hervey Bay and Gladstone (Queensland); Alice Springs (Northern Territory); Albany (Western Australia) Port Lincoln, Port Pirie and Kadina (South Australia); and Broken Hill (New South Wales).

Figure 3.6 Aeromedical retrieval pick-up locations for acute myocardial infarction, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021


3.7 Heart failure

Self-reported data from the National Health Survey demonstrated that 102,000 adults had heart failure in 2017–18.² Heart failure is costly (economically and socially) because it accounts for a large number of hospitalisations, with many people having multiple hospital visits.⁴⁸ Heart failure is progressive and 50–75% of people die within five years of diagnosis.⁴⁸

In 2020–21, there were 178,563 hospitalisations where heart failure or cardiomyopathy was recorded as the principal and/or additional diagnosis – it was the principal diagnosis in 41% (N=73,293) of these hospitalisations.² The age-standardised hospitalisation rate for heart failure and cardiomyopathy in remote and very remote areas (903 per 100,000 population) was 1.8 times as high as for major cities (516 per 100,000 population).²

In 2017–19, the age-standardised death rate of Indigenous peoples (140 per 100,000 population) was 2.0 times as high as for non-Indigenous Australians (70 per 100,000 population).²

3.7.1 RFDS aeromedical retrievals for heart failure

Between 1 January 2017 and 31 December 2021, the RFDS retrieved 1,198 patients for heart failure, which equates to almost five patients a week. Primary evacuations accounted for 147 (12.3%) retrievals and inter-hospital transfers accounted for 1,051 (87.7%) retrievals.

3.7.2 Patient characteristics

The following was observed for RFDS aeromedical retrievals for heart failure between 1 January 2017 and 31 December 2021 (Figures 3.7 and 3.8):

- > Patients retrieved were between the ages of 0-85+ years;
- > Most of the primary evacuations (79.0%) and one-third (31%) of inter-hospital transfers for heart failure were for Indigenous peoples; and
- Indigenous peoples were younger than non-Indigenous Australians when retrieved the majority of Indigenous peoples were younger than 65 years and the majority of non-Indigenous Australians were 65 years of age or older.



Figure 3.7 Number of patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for heart failure, by five-year age group and Indigenous status, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021

Figure 3.8 Number of patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for heart failure, by gender and Indigenous status, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021



3.7.3 Aeromedical retrieval pick-up and drop-off locations

Figure 3.9 shows aeromedical retrieval pick-up locations for heart failure. RFDS primary evacuation locations for heart failure show retrievals for patients from some of the most remote locations in Australia including Warburton Ranges and Balgo Hills (Western Australia); Thargomindah (Queensland); Marla (South Australia); and Yuendumu (Northern Territory). The highest number of inter-hospital transfers included in Rockhampton and Hervey Bay (Queensland); Geraldton (Western Australia), as well as the movement of patients from Adelaide (South Australia) and Brisbane (Queensland), often for de-escalation of care following initial treatment.

Patients retrieved for heart failure were mostly taken to large inner-city facilities, such as the Royal Adelaide Hospital (South Australia), Fiona Stanley Hospital (Western Australia), Alice Springs Hospital (Northern Territory) and The Prince Charles Hospital (Queensland), for treatment.

Figure 3.9 Aeromedical retrieval pick-up locations for heart failure, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021



3.8 Cerebrovascular disease

Data from the 2018 Survey of Disability, Ageing and Carers demonstrated that around 387,000 Australians aged over 15 years had experienced a stroke at some point during their lives.² The age-standardised prevalence of stroke demonstrated that there was no difference across remoteness areas.²

In 2020, there were around 39,500 stroke events in Australia, equivalent to 100 per day (154 events per 100,000 population).² Males (144 per 100,000 population) were 1.4 times as likely as females (105 per 100,000 population) to experience a stroke in 2020, and the likelihood of stroke increased with age.²

Age-standardised hospitalisation rates for stroke were 1.4 times as high for males (255 per 100,000 population) as females (176 per 100,000 population) in 2020–21.² Hospitalisation rates for stroke among Indigenous Australians (352 per 100,000 population) were 1.7 times as high as for non-Indigenous Australians (206 per 100,000 population) in 2020–21.² Similarly, age-standardised stroke hospitalisation rates for people living in remote and very remote areas (270 per 100,000 population) were 1.2 times as high as for people living in major cities (216 per 100,000 population).

Research conducted in 2021 highlighted that only 3% of Australians living in rural and remote areas received care in a specialist stroke unit, compared to 77% of people who live in the city.⁹

From 2016–20, premature deaths from cerebrovascular disease were highest in Western Australia and the Northern Territory with a standardised death ratio up to six times higher than the national average⁴ (Table 3.2).

| Table 3.2 Rural and remote Statistical Area Level 3 regions in each Australian state/territory |
|--|
| that had the highest standardised death ratios for cerebrovascular disease, for people aged |
| 0–74 years, 2016–20* |

| State or Territory | Region: Statistical Area Level 3 | Standardised death ratio |
|-----------------------|--|--------------------------|
| Western Australia | Halls Creek/Kununurra | 5.58 |
| | East Pilbara | 2.98 |
| | Derby–West Kimberley/Roebuck | 2.31 |
| | Geraldton/Geraldton-East | 1.84 |
| Northern Territory | Anindilyakwa/East Arnhem/Nhulunbuy | 3.04 |
| | Katherine | 2.32 |
| | Daly–Tiwi–West Arnhem | 2.21 |
| | Alice Springs–Town | 1.00 |
| South Australia | Port Augusta/Quorn–Lake Gilles | 1.63 |
| | Peterborough-Mount Remarkable | 1.58 |
| | Port Pirie | 1.45 |
| | Barossa–Angaston/Lyndoch | 1.42 |
| Victoria | Bendigo | 2.65 |
| | Colac | 2.14 |
| | Nhill Region/West Wimmera/Yarriambiack | 2.06 |
| | Moe–Newborough/Morwell | 2.00 |
| Queensland | Mount Isa | 2.53 |
| | Daintree/Port Douglas | 2.34 |
| | Berserker/Lakes Creek/Rockhampton City | 2.33 |
| | Rockhampton Central | 2.14 |
| New South Wales | Macksville/Scotts Head/Nambucca Heads | 2.91 |
| | Mayfield–Warabrook/Waratah–North Lambton | 2.89 |
| | Bolton Point-Teralba | 2.60 |
| | Muswellbrook | 2.49 |
| Tasmania [^] | West Ulverstone | 2.37 |
| | Parklands-Camdale/Somerset/Wynyard | 2.27 |
| | New Town | 2.15 |
| | Acton–Upper Burnie/Burnie–Wivenhoe | 2.06 |

Notes: *Data not published on regions where there were small numbers of people impacted by an illness, to protect privacy (e.g. APY Lands). ^Excludes Greater Hobart and Launceston.

Source: Derived from Public Health Information Development Unit data (2023).4

3.8.1 RFDS aeromedical retrievals for cerebrovascular disease

Stroke was the third most common reason for an RFDS aeromedical retrieval for heart, stroke and vascular disease between 1 January 2017 and 31 December 2021, and accounted for 4,318 retrievals across Australia, including Queensland (N=1,799, 41.7%), Western Australia (N=1,098, 25.4%), South Australia and the Northern Territory (N=1,079, 25%), and New South Wales (N=342, 7.9%).

Inter-hospital transfers for stroke accounted for the majority (94.5%) of aeromedical retrievals.

3.8.2 Patient characteristics

Figures 3.10 and 3.11 demonstrate the number of patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for cerebrovascular disease, by five-year age group and Indigenous status, and gender and Indigenous status (respectively). Between 1 January 2017 and 31 December 2021:

- Non-Indigenous Australians accounted for 3,245 (81.3%) retrievals and Indigenous peoples accounted for 745 (18.7%) retrievals;
- Males (N=2,334, 58.5%) were 1.4 times as likely to undergo an aeromedical retrieval as females (N=1,656, 41.5%);
 - Non-Indigenous males (N=1,970, 60.1%) were 1.5 times as likely to be retrieved as non-Indigenous females (N=1,275, 39.9%);
 - Indigenous males (N=364, 48.9%) and Indigenous females (N=381, 51.1%) demonstrated similar rates of aeromedical retrieval for stroke;
- > Patients retrieved were between the ages of 0-85+ years;
- > Indigenous peoples were younger than non-Indigenous Australians when retrieved;
 - Mean age at retrieval for non-Indigenous Australians was 65.6 years (Standard Deviation (SD) 16.1 years); and
 - Mean age at retrieval for Indigenous peoples was age 54.7 years (SD 14.1 years).

Figure 3.10 Number of patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for cerebrovascular disease, by five-year age group and Indigenous status, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021



Figure 3.11 Number of patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for cerebrovascular disease, by gender and Indigenous status, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021



3.8.3 Aeromedical retrieval pick-up and drop-off locations

Figure 3.12 shows aeromedical retrieval pick-up locations for cerebrovascular disease. Some of the most remote primary evacuations for stroke were from Shark Bay, Mount Magnet, Jurien Bay (Western Australia); Aurukun, Pormpuraaw, Kowanyama (Queensland); Uluru, Amata, Ti Tree (Northern Territory/South Australia); and Moomba and Wilcannia (New South Wales) (Figure 3.8).

The main pick-up locations for inter-hospital transfers for stroke were Rockhampton, Townsville, Bundaberg, Cairns and Hervey Bay (Queensland); Albany, Geraldton, Broome, Bunbury and Kalgoorlie (Western Australia); Mount Gambier, Port Pirie, Port Lincoln, (South Australia); and Dubbo, Bankstown and Broken Hill, (New South Wales), as well as the movement of patients from Adelaide (South Australia) and Brisbane (Queensland), often for de-escalation of care following initial treatment.



Figure 3.12 Aeromedical retrieval pick-up locations for cerebrovascular diseases, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021

The main drop-off locations for stroke patients were Sir Charles Gardiner Hospital (Western Australia); Royal Adelaide Hospital (South Australia); Royal Brisbane Hospital and Royal Women's Hospital, Townsville Hospital (Queensland); Fiona Stanley Hospital (Western Australia); and Dubbo Base Hospital (New South Wales).

3.9 Acute rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease

Although acute rheumatic fever is rare among non-Indigenous Australians, it has a significant impact on Australia's Indigenous peoples.² Indeed, Indigenous Australians have some of the highest rates of acute rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease in the world, especially across Central and Northern Australia.⁴⁹ As at 31 December 2019, 5,385 people were living with rheumatic heart disease, of whom 81% were Indigenous.²

Figure 3.13 shows the age-standardised prevalence (Australian population and Indigenous population) of acute rheumatic fever or rheumatic heart disease in five Australian jurisdictions, by Indigenous Region Categories in 2015–17.⁵⁰ The data demonstrated that the Northern Territory (1,195.4 per 100,000 population) had the highest prevalence of acute rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease compared to other Australian states and territories.⁵⁰ The prevalence of acute rheumatic fever and rheumati

- Indigenous peoples (3,544.8 per 100,000 population) in the Northern Territory was three times as high as for the general population (1,195.4 per 100,000 population) in the Northern Territory;
- Indigenous peoples (1,012.3 per 100,000 population) in Western Australia was 18.4 times as high as for the general population (55 per 100,000 population) in Western Australia; and
- Indigenous peoples (862.1 per 100,000 population) in Queensland was 13.6 times as high as for the general population (63.3 per 100,000 population) in Queensland.⁵⁰

From 2015 to 2019, regions of Australia most impacted by rheumatic heart disease included rural Darwin, East Arnhem, Alice Springs and Barkly (Northern Territory); Torres Strait, Cape and North West (Queensland); Kimberley (Western Australia); and Outback North and East (South Australia).⁵¹

In 2020–21, around 760 Indigenous peoples were hospitalised for acute rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease.² The age-standardised hospitalisation rate among Indigenous peoples (85 per 100,000 population) was 6.5 times as high as the non-Indigenous rate (13 per 100,000 population).² People living in remote and very remote areas (112 per 100,000 population) were nine times as likely to be hospitalised for acute rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease as those living in major cities (13 per 100,000 population) in 2020–21.²

Figure 3.13 Age-standardised prevalence (per 100,000) of acute rheumatic fever or rheumatic heart disease in Indigenous population in five Australian jurisdictions, by Indigenous Region Categories, 2015–17



Source: Katzenellenbogen, Bond-Smith, Seth, et al. (2020).50

3.9.1 RFDS aeromedical retrievals for rheumatic heart disease

RFDS carried out 109 aeromedical retrievals for patients with acute rheumatic fever and 169 aeromedical retrievals for patients with rheumatic heart disease between 1 January 2017 and 31 December 2021.

3.9.2 Patient characteristics

The greatest number of retrievals were for children aged 10–14 years of age (Figure 3.14). More than half (N=151, 54%) of all retrievals were for people under 29 years of age. Indigenous peoples with a primary diagnosis of rheumatic heart disease accounted for the majority (N=207, 74.2%) of retrievals. The mean age of Indigenous peoples retrieved was 18.5 years. There were 60 (21.5%) retrievals of non-Indigenous Australians with a mean age of 69.7 years. Eleven (4.3%) retrievals were for people who had not specified their Indigenous status, with a mean age of 57 years. Figure 3.15 demonstrates the disproportionately high number of Indigenous peoples impacted by acute rheumatic fever or rheumatic heart disease.

Figure 3.14 Number of patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for acute rheumatic fever or rheumatic heart disease, by five-year age group and Indigenous status, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021



Number

Figure 3.15 Number of patients who underwent an aeromedical retrieval for acute rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease, by gender and Indigenous status, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021



Gender

3.9.3 Aeromedical retrieval pick-up and drop-off locations

Figure 3.16 shows aeromedical retrieval pick-up locations for acute rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease.

People from some of the most remote communities underwent primary evacuations for acute rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease, including communities such as Aurukun (Queensland); Yuendumu and Papunya (Northern Territory); and Balgo Hills (Western Australia). The majority of inter-hospital transfers were from Tennant Creek and Alice Springs (Northern Territory); Cairns and Rockhampton (Queensland); and Fitzroy Crossing (Western Australia), as well as the movement of patients from Adelaide (South Australia) and Brisbane (Queensland), often for de-escalation of care following initial treatment. As with previous conditions, there are few local hospitals that can treat rheumatic heart disease and the majority of these patients were taken to a major city hospital.

Figure 3.16 Aeromedical retrieval pick-up locations for acute rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease, 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021



3.10 Discussion

The data presented in the current chapter demonstrated that people living in rural and remote Australia, including Indigenous peoples, were disproportionally impacted by sub-types of heart, stroke and vascular disease, compared to people living in major cities.

Additionally, Indigenous peoples were impacted by heart, stroke and vascular disease sub-types at a much younger age than non-Indigenous Australians – sometimes 20 to 30 years earlier.

The high number of aeromedical retrievals for heart, stroke and vascular disease sub-types, conducted between 1 January 2017 and 31 December 2021, demonstrates that rural and remote Australians were unable to get the treatment they needed outside of major cities, where they were most often taken to receive definitive care.

When they are discharged from hospital, rural and remote Australians may be unable to access the follow-up care they need in rural and remote Australia, due to the lack of service access. Sometimes, they may need to move to access ongoing care. This can be costly and lonely for the patient.

For Indigenous peoples, this can be extremely detrimental, as Indigenous peoples have a strong connection to Country and community.⁵² Being taken off Country to a hospital far from their home can lead to poor outcomes, especially when stays are prolonged or become permanent.⁵² To improve the health of Indigenous peoples, their connections to family, community and Country – which, is often overlooked in Western medicine – must also be considered by health professionals.⁵³

This is not only applicable to Indigenous peoples, but also to all Australians. There is evidence that people prefer to be cared for at home and in their community.⁵⁴ This perspective requires an emphasis on high-quality integrated care.⁵⁴ This reaffirms the need for place-based service models that promote good heart health, and that are community led. Place-based models are better situated to understand and consider the social determinants of health, to address the health needs of the community.

Some capital cities (e.g. Brisbane and Adelaide) were identified as RFDS aeromedical retrieval pick-up locations. In many cases this activity represents inter-hospital transfers of patients from high acuity care (such as a dedicated stroke or cardiac unit) to lower acuity care, such as to a large regional hospital. Patients who underwent an inter-hospital transfer from a major city hospital may have still required comprehensive medical treatment, but no longer needed the high acuity services provided by specialist units.

Chapter 4. Service models that promote good heart health

The Australian Institute of Health and Wellbeing identified three phases for the treatment and management of heart, stroke and vascular disease: prevention, acute care, and secondary prevention.²

Prevention activities assist people who may be at risk of heart, stroke and vascular disease before symptoms appear, or before they experience a cardiac event.² Primary healthcare teams, including general practitioners, nurses, Indigenous health workers, dental teams and allied health professionals (such as dieticians, diabetes educators, and physiotherapists), along with pharmacists, are integral to helping people manage risk factors for heart, stroke and vascular disease, via lifestyle modifications and the use of medicines.² There is strong evidence that acute heart, stroke and vascular disease events are largely preventable, especially with early diagnosis and treatment.⁶

Acute care is the treatment given during and immediately after an acute heart, stroke or vascular disease event, like a heart attack or stroke.² It includes pre-hospital emergency care, such as RFDS aeromedical retrievals and care from other ambulance services, as well as care given in the emergency department and in hospital.²

Secondary prevention describes health care that aims to prevent a recurrence of heart, stroke or vascular disease events, or complications for people with heart, stroke or vascular disease.² Secondary prevention involves medical treatment, modification of risk factors, psychosocial care, education and support for self-management.²

This chapter focuses on the significant role of primary health care in heart, stroke and vascular disease. It describes the role the RFDS plays in the provision of primary health care, including dental care, to people with heart, stroke and vascular disease living in rural and remote Australia, and provides examples of models of care that address sub-types of heart, stroke and vascular disease.

4.1 Role of primary health care

The National Strategic Action Plan for Heart Disease and Stroke (p.14) identified that 'early detection and ongoing management of those at high risk of heart disease and stroke can save lives and reduce avoidable hospital admissions'.⁸ The RFDS *Best for the Bush: Rural and Remote Health Base Line 2022*¹ report identified that in many instances, heart, stroke and vascular disease, along with many other chronic diseases, can be prevented or carefully managed in the primary healthcare setting to avoid the need for acute care, such as an aeromedical retrieval or hospitalisation.¹ Modifiable risk factors associated with heart, stroke and vascular disease, which can be managed in the primary healthcare setting, include blood pressure, cholesterol, diet, physical activity, weight, smoking and alcohol intake.⁸

Primary health care is at the forefront for the delivery of services to identify, prevent and manage heart, stroke and vascular disease risk.⁷ In addition to general practice, community-based lifestyle modification services and programs are required to support and sustain changes in the health behaviour of consumers.⁷

However, access to primary health care is poor in many areas of rural and remote Australia. Through the RFDS Service Planning and Operational Tool, which maps service data and overlays this with population data, the RFDS has been able to identify where there is a lack of access to primary health care. We found that in 2023, 22,003 people in remote and very remote Australia had no access to any type of primary healthcare service within a 60-minute drive time of their place of residence.¹ Specifically, 57,899 people did not have access to general practitioner services, with the highest numbers of people without access in the regions of Daly–Tiwi–West Arnhem, the Kimberley, and Far North Queensland. Moreover, 208,247 people did not have access to nurse-led services, with the highest numbers of people without access being in the regions of East Pilbara, Katherine and Esperance.¹ Many of these locations have also been demonstrated to have low socioeconomic status and to have higher standardised death ratios for heart, stroke and vascular disease. For example, the standardised death ratio for heart, stroke and vascular disease in 2016–20.⁴

Unsurprisingly, the RFDS found that, with the exception of nurses, the distribution of the primary healthcare workforce (per 100,000 head of population) is significantly lower in rural and remote areas, compared to major cities.¹

Prevention, early detection and effective management of heart, stroke and vascular disease can only be achieved by ensuring appropriate access to health services for people in rural and remote Australia, and a workforce to deliver these services.¹

It is anticipated that as people live longer, they will also develop a greater prevalence of chronic disease, which will be even more apparent in an increasingly ageing population.⁵⁵ Cancer, disorders of mental health, and heart, stroke and vascular disease are predicted to be the most prevalent chronic diseases, with those in rural and remote areas expected to be impacted most by these growing rates, consistent with current trends.⁵⁵

Additional health prevention and early intervention activities will be required to minimise and respond to growth in heart, stroke and vascular disease.⁵⁵ Despite the challenges in providing services to smaller populations spread across large distances, it is crucial that rural and remote Australians have the guarantee of reasonable access to comprehensive and enhanced primary healthcare services to respond to these trends, and particularly increases in chronic disease.⁵⁵

Culturally appropriate services, delivered by multidisciplinary primary healthcare teams, as well as visiting programs involving specialists, allied health, mental health, dental and telehealth services, will be integral to improving health outcomes for rural and remote Australians.⁵⁵

Some of the aeromedical retrievals for heart, stroke and vascular disease described in the previous chapters may have been preventable through the provision of appropriate early health interventions and disease management delivered in primary healthcare and community-based care settings.⁵⁶

Examples of primary healthcare interventions that may help people avoid hospitalisation include:

- > Reducing and managing disease risk factors;
- Diagnosis and prescribing to manage infections (for acute rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease);
- > Lifestyle interventions to reduce the development of chronic conditions; and
- Management of chronic conditions to slow progression and risk of complications, including support for self-management.⁵⁷

4.2 RFDS primary healthcare services

The RFDS, along with mainstream services and other organisations, such as Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisations, plays an important role in the delivery of a comprehensive suite of primary healthcare services for people who live in rural and remote Australia, including on behalf of the Australian Government. To address lack of access to the Medical Benefits Schedule in these areas, services funded by state and territory governments, philanthropy and fundraising are also provided by the RFDS throughout Australia. Our primary healthcare services comprise innovative and flexible models of care to meet the health needs of rural and remote communities, such as permanent, mobile or regular fly-in fly-out/ drive-in drive-out GP and nursing clinics, mental health and wellbeing services, dental health services, chronic disease management, and a growing number of allied health programs, health promotion activities and road transport services. These are integrated with a 24/7 remote consultation (telehealth) system.

With 78 aircraft at 23 aerobases along with over 180 road vehicles at regional bases, the RFDS provides aeromedical retrievals and clinic services at almost 200 rural and remote sites, and in 2021–22 provided over 387,000 patient contacts. These included over 24,000 primary healthcare clinics (an average of 65 per day); over 63,000 remote telehealth consultations; and almost 17,000 episodes of face-to-face mental health and dental health care. Through our extensive telehealth and primary healthcare we provide medical support to patients in rural and remote communities across Australia, including providing guidance on risk factors for heart, stroke and vascular disease, and evidence-based recommendations for treatment.⁵⁸

The RFDS prioritises a place-based approach to service planning, to target the specific circumstances of the individual communities served by the RFDS. In many communities, despite operating as a visiting service, the RFDS is the 'local doctor' providing high-quality continuity of care – and in some cases, has been the only provider of these services for over 90 years. The RFDS endeavours to tailor services, including for heart, stroke and vascular disease, to the communities in which they are delivered, and is committed to both supporting the growth of local capacity, and also partnering with local service providers. Services are co-designed with the local community, consumers and carers, as well as partner organisations, such as Primary Health Networks and the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health sector, including Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisations, and we continue to work with Indigenous communities and stakeholders to ensure services are culturally appropriate.¹

4.2.1 Spotlight on RFDS dental services

People in rural and remote Australia have poorer oral health than people living in major cities, and oral health status declines with increasing remoteness.⁵⁹ Previous research has demonstrated that compared to people in major cities, rural and remote Australians have poorer access to dental services, experience longer travel times and have limited transport options to services.⁵⁹

Poor oral health is associated with certain heart, stroke and vascular diseases, as well as a higher risk of mortality from heart, stroke and vascular disease.^{59,60} There is consistent and strong epidemiological evidence that periodontitis, or gum disease, is a risk factor for future heart, stroke and vascular disease.⁶¹ Analyses from a nationwide Korean cohort study demonstrated an association between five or more dental caries (cavities) and the occurrence of stroke or myocardial infarction among participants.⁶²

Acute rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease can also be impacted by poor oral health. Ongoing dental care for people with acute rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease is indicated to reduce the risk of endocarditis, or heart inflammation, which is usually caused by an infection.⁶³ Good dental hygiene is important, since oral bacteria entering the bloodstream can increase the risk of heart complications, such as endocarditis.

Recognising the gap in provision of dental health services in rural and remote areas, the RFDS established dental services throughout Australia. These services are provided using fly-in, fly-out or drive-in, drive-out, mobile and outreach delivery models. The RFDS dental service employs a range of oral health professionals, such as dentists, oral health therapists, dental hygienists and dental assistants.

The RFDS delivers a range of dental services, including preventative services, diagnostic services, general services, restorative services, oral surgery, periodontics, endodontics, and prosthodontics. Analysis of RFDS dental data between 2017 and 2019 demonstrated that the RFDS conducted 120 dental procedures per day. Preventative and diagnostic services accounted for more than half of all procedures delivered by the RFDS (56.8%). Around one in five procedures were for general services (19.4%) or restorative services (17.2%) and 4.5% of procedures involved oral surgery. Of specific relevance is the number of procedures delivered per appointment. This ranged from 3.9 procedures per appointment to 7.1 per appointment with an average of 5.2 procedures conducted per appointment. The large number of procedures delivered through RFDS dental clinics reflects the high levels of poor oral health in rural and remote Australia.

The RFDS is committed to providing dental services to rural and remote Australians, to reduce the impacts of poor dental health on their overall heart health.

4.3 Other interventions

There are several examples of models of care that address the sub-types of heart, stroke and vascular disease. The models presented in this section of the report focus on one or more phases in the treatment and management of the sub-types of heart, stroke and vascular disease described in Chapter three – prevention, acute care and secondary prevention. All the models of care have been implemented in Australia.

The models presented include:

- > The Heart Health Check;
- > Cardiac rehabilitation services;
- > Integrated Cardiovascular Clinical Network;
- > The Australian Stroke Alliance;
- > Take Heart: Deadly Heart; and
- > Purple House.

4.3.1 Heart Health Check

Australian general practitioners play an important role in raising patient awareness about health checks.⁸ The Heart Health Check, which determines a person's risk of heart disease and stroke, is recommended for non-Indigenous Australians aged 45 years or older and Indigenous peoples aged 30 years or older.⁶⁴ In rural and remote Australia, the Heart Health Check can be delivered by general practitioners and other medical professionals.

The Heart Health Check is based on the Australian absolute cardiovascular disease risk calculator.⁶⁵ Absolute cardiovascular disease risk assessment considers multiple risk factors, including blood pressure, cholesterol, blood glucose, smoking status and lifestyle factors, to predict the likelihood of a heart attack or stroke event in the next five years.⁶⁵

Depending on the result, various measures may need to be implemented, ranging from lifestyle modifications to medication regimens.²⁶ An important factor in the ongoing management of a patient is access to comprehensive primary health care.^{11,27}

Results from a 2022 survey conducted by the Heart Foundation found that 64% of eligible patients aged between 45 and 74 years had not had a Heart Health Check, despite more than half of that cohort having either high blood pressure, high cholesterol, diabetes, or being told that they are at high risk of heart disease.⁶⁶

In 2022, the Heart Foundation cited modelling that proposed up to 76,500 deaths from heart, stroke and vascular disease could be avoided over the next five years, if Heart Health Checks were carried out widely.⁶⁵

4.3.2 Cardiac rehabilitation services

Cardiac rehabilitation services are classified as secondary prevention, as they support a person after they have had a heart event. A multidisciplinary team of healthcare professionals usually work together to support cardiac rehabilitation and could include a cardiothoracic surgeon, cardiologist, general practitioner, cardiac nurse, physiotherapist, occupational therapist, dietician and social worker.⁵⁸

In 2019, the RFDS produced a research report on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention and Rehabilitation in Rural and Remote Populations.⁵⁸ The report found that many rural and remote communities with high rates of heart, stroke and vascular disease do not have adequate access to cardiac rehabilitation services for secondary prevention.⁵⁸

Figure 4.1 demonstrates the locations of RFDS primary evacuations for myocardial infarctions between 1 January 2017 and 31 December 2021, as well as the locations of cardiac rehabilitation services in Australia.⁶⁷ The majority of aeromedical retrievals (primary evacuations) were from locations where there were no cardiac rehabilitation services. This is concerning, since the evidence suggests that participation in a cardiac rehabilitation program is an important first step in a person's recovery.⁵⁸

Figure 4.1 Locations of RFDS primary evacuations for acute myocardial infarction (left) compared to where cardiac services are based (right)⁶⁷



Primary Evacuation locations for acute myocardical infarction

Cardiac rehabilitation services

Not only do cardiac rehabilitation programs improve quality-of-life and risk factors, but people are also 40% less likely to be readmitted to hospital and 25% less likely to die from another heart event if they have participated in cardiac rehabilitation.^{58,68-70}

To assist people in areas where there are no cardiac rehabilitation services, there has been increasing availability of, and evidence for, alternative modes of delivery of cardiac rehabilitation, including phone-based, home-based and online services.⁵⁸ As such, there is an opportunity for rural and remote healthcare providers, such as the RFDS, to expand services to facilitate equitable health outcomes.

4.3.3 Integrated Cardiovascular Clinical Network

In South Australia, the Integrated Cardiovascular Clinical Network, which is a regionalised clinical cardiac support network, provides an example of a program that has been developed to improve access to services for people in rural and remote Australia with heart, stroke and vascular disease.⁷¹ It includes over 70 hospitals, health centres and general practitioner surgeries that reach over 400,000 people.⁷¹

The network supports the capacity of primary health care to manage suspected myocardial infarction by providing expert risk stratification, point-of-care troponin testing, and cardiologist-supported decision-making for people with suspected myocardial infarction.⁷¹ This program was progressively implemented in non-metropolitan areas of South Australia from 2001–2008.⁷¹ It provides rapid assessment of non-metropolitan patients, and facilitates timely transport of patients to metropolitan hospitals, including RFDS patients, to receive medical interventions, such as coronary angiography, percutaneous coronary intervention, coronary artery bypass graft surgery and cardiac rehabilitation services.⁷¹

Researchers evaluated the relationship between availability of the Integrated Cardiovascular Clinical Network and mortality, and found that the immediate cardiac support provided through the Integrated Cardiovascular Clinical Network was associated with a reduction in 30-day mortality rates.⁷¹ In addition, there was a strong association between network support and transfer of patients to metropolitan hospitals (before Integrated Cardiovascular Clinical Network, 1102/2419 [45.56%] versus after Integrated Cardiovascular Clinical Network, 2100/3211 [65.4%]; P< 0.001), with lower mortality observed among patients.⁷¹

4.3.4 The Australian Stroke Alliance

At present, people in rural and remote communities who have had a stroke often have to travel hundreds of kilometres, often for several hours, to access brain imaging. Without imaging, clinicians are unable to determine the type of stroke a patient has experienced, and therefore are unable to commence treatment in a timely manner.

One solution to this is to take the brain scanner to the patient.⁷² The Australian Stroke Alliance commenced a five-year project in 2020 to develop world-first disruptive technologies to radically transform access to early pre-hospital treatments and dramatically improve stroke outcomes for all Australians.⁷² Ultra-lightweight, portable and low-cost imaging devices are being designed by its commercial partners for use by ambulance services, and for use in aircraft, by aeromedical retrieval services.⁷² The Australian Stroke Alliance has calculated that around 45,000 Disability Adjusted Life Years will be saved over 30 years through these interventions.

The RFDS is a major partner and is working with the Australian Stroke Alliance to develop and test scanners for the aeromedical environment. The technology will also enable digital telehealth so that first responders can share vital patient data with city-based neurologists on the ground and in the air.⁷² Neurologists will be able to diagnose and instruct RFDS clinicians to administer treatment and direct the patient to a stroke unit if required.⁷² This is likely to reduce the number of aeromedical retrievals associated with stroke, and will also enable those patients who have had a stroke to be transported to a stroke unit as quickly as possible.

4.3.5 Take Heart: Deadly Heart

Managing rheumatic heart disease is complex. It requires reliable access to medical support, routine dental care, timely access to surgery, rehabilitation, and regular penicillin injections to prevent recurrent acute rheumatic fever.⁵¹ However, simple and cost-effective strategies can reduce and treat acute rheumatic fever, thus preventing chronic rheumatic heart disease.⁵¹ Primary healthcare services are at the core of these strategies by providing early diagnosis and intervention to streptococcus A infections that are easily treated with penicillin.⁵¹

Take Heart: Deadly Heart is part of an impact campaign based around a film with the same title to promote the *Rheumatic Heart Disease End Game Strategy*.⁷³ It aims to eliminate the disease in Australia by 2030.⁷³ Strategies vary and require solutions that address prevention.⁷³ They also need to be community led, address the social determinants of health, and support culturally safe relationships.⁷⁴

The RFDS is proud to be a silver sponsor of the film *Take Heart: Deadly Heart,* and to be able to use our voice to raise consciousness about this preventable disease, which has largely been eliminated from all other developed countries, with the exception of Indigenous populations within Australia and New Zealand, who still have high prevalence.

4.3.6 Purple House

Although not specific to heart, stroke and vascular disease, Purple House in Alice Springs is an excellent example of how the community came together to improve outcomes for patients with chronic kidney disease.⁷⁵ Purple House is an innovative Indigenous-owned and run health service that provides a home away from home for patients who have to leave their community to access care for end-stage renal failure.⁷⁵ The aim is to keep patients on Country with their family, where they can continue to share their culture.⁷⁵ They also have 18 remote clinics and the Purple Truck, a mobile dialysis unit.⁷⁵ This enables people to return home for family, cultural or sorry business, without risking their health.⁷⁵

Indigenous peoples have drawn attention to the importance of relationships with their culture and Country. Purple House has assisted in supporting these connections.⁷⁵ The success of Purple House has led to communities requesting their help for other conditions. This model considers the needs of rural and remote Indigenous communities and either takes care to the patient, or provides a safe, social space where people feel comfortable to receive the help they need away from home.⁷⁵ This type of model could be considered for the treatment of heart, stroke and vascular diseases, especially for Indigenous peoples, where connection to Country is important.

4.4 Summary

This chapter has presented compelling evidence that primary healthcare services play a pivotal role in supporting good heart health. Primary health care is at the forefront for the delivery of services to identify, prevent, and manage heart, stroke and vascular disease risk.⁷

However, permanent primary healthcare services are not always accessible to people living in some of the most remote regions of Australia. Consequently, organisations such as a the RFDS play an important role in providing fly-in fly out and drive-in drive-out primary healthcare services to communities that are beyond normal medical infrastructure and where small populations spread across large geographical locations do not provide an adequate market to sustain services funded solely by the Medical Benefits Schedule.

In addition to primary healthcare services, communities in rural and remote Australia need access to other interventions and services to assist in managing their heart health. The current chapter presented several examples of models of care that address sub-types of heart, stroke and vascular disease. In particular, access to cardiac rehabilitation services would be beneficial to people who have experienced an acute heart, stroke or vascular disease event. Alternative modes of delivery of cardiac rehabilitation, including phone-based, home-based and online services could be implemented in rural and remote Australia, where on-the-ground services are not viable.⁵⁸

Chapter 5. Conclusion and recommendations

5.1 Conclusion

Heart, stroke and vascular disease rates worsen by remoteness and socioeconomic status. RFDS aeromedical retrieval data mirrored the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare data for areas that have the highest prevalence of heart, stroke and vascular diseases. RFDS Service Planning and Operational Tool data showed that these communities have less access to healthcare services.

RFDS data demonstrated that the majority of patients retrieved from remote, rural and outer regional areas or facilities need to be taken to a major city for definitive care. The Northern part of Australia fares the worst for poor health across all heart, stroke and vascular diseases nationally, with mortality rates more than 10 times higher in some areas.

A higher proportion of Indigenous peoples, especially women, are retrieved for heart, stroke and vascular diseases than other Australians living in rural and remote areas. A higher proportion of Indigenous peoples live in the most remote areas of Australia with the least access to health care. The rates of rheumatic heart disease in Indigenous peoples demonstrates a huge gap in health equality in Indigenous peoples.

We currently partner with Primary Health Networks and Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisations to provide a comprehensive, coordinated and continuous service, but we want, and need, to do more. We are changing our policies to build a flexible and well-trained health workforce. We are upskilling our workforce to improve efficiency in services and investing in innovative technologies to improve patient outcomes.

5.2 Recommendations

Through the analysis of RFDS retrieval data as related to specific heart, stroke and vascular disease across rural and remote Australia, this report shines a light on where cardiac services are most needed, and based on this analysis, the RFDS makes the following recommendations and is committed to working with governments, communities, partners and other services to ensure the following:

1. Equitable access to comprehensive primary healthcare services in rural and remote areas, including specific cardiac care.

As identified in the RFDS *Best for the Bush: Rural and Remote Health Base Line 2022*¹ report, there must be equitable access to services, equitable use of services and equitable health outcomes for those in rural and remote areas as compared to other parts of Australia. This includes around cardiac care, noting in particular the increased risk factors, burden and impacts of heart, stroke and vascular diseases for rural and remote Australians, and the absence of services in many locations. Ultimately, prevention is key, while early detection and effective management of those with heart, stroke and vascular disease will save lives and reduce the need for emergency aeromedical retrievals and hospital admissions. Given the significantly higher rates across rural and remote Australia, particular attention must be given to preventing coronary heart disease and effective management to reduce the rates of heart attack. Those in rural and remote Australia must also have timely access to the best care possible; for example, ensuring those who suffer a stroke receive specialised care, as do those in metropolitan areas.

Ensuring adequate cardiac care in rural and remote Australia must include:

Primary prevention

Rural and remote populations have higher rates of modifiable risk factors contributing to heart, stroke and vascular disease. Primary healthcare providers can have a positive impact on patients making changes through counselling and advice, health checks and care plans, and programs such as smoking cessation and support to access dental services. People living in rural and remote areas should have equitable access to these services. For this to succeed, we need to raise the awareness of health checks among health professionals and the community, and provide rural health professionals with the resources, including funding and training, to support this activity – particularly as it relates to coronary heart disease. This is pertinent given we know that 64% of eligible patients between 45 and 74 years have not had a Heart Health Check.⁶⁶

Secondary prevention

Those who have had an acute episode, or are living with a chronic heart, stroke and vascular disease require access to secondary prevention measures such as rehabilitation and chronic disease management. These services are often based in major city areas of Australia and are inaccessible to rural and remote Australians. Increased services should be delivered in rural and remote locations, and innovative outreach models of care, such as remote monitoring, hospital in the home, and phone-based, home-based and online cardiac rehabilitation services, should be supported to ensure accessibility. Further integration and efficiencies can be achieved by combining primary and secondary measures with community programs, which will allow services to target larger populations, increasing the benefits and making them cost effective.

Targeted prevention and management plans for the most at-risk populations and locations

The RFDS repeats the recommendation of the *Best for the Bush: Rural and Remote Health Base Line 2022*¹ report that comprehensive primary healthcare plans be developed for the most at-risk populations and locations. This should include for heart, stroke and vascular disease with initiatives based on evidence of the most effective prevention activities and interventions, paired with comprehensive monitoring and tracking. This should particularly include both Indigenous and non-Indigenous males. Findings in this report show that non-Indigenous Australians aged over 45 years and Indigenous peoples aged over 30 years in rural and remote Australia should receive additional intervention, information and prevention services addressing risk factors for heart, stroke and vascular diseases.

2. Supporting fit-for-purpose funding models and models of care for the prevention and management of heart, stroke and vascular diseases in rural and remote Australia.

To achieve access to comprehensive cardiac care in rural and remote Australia, additional resources are required to support targeted, innovative and fit-for-purpose services for rural and remote Australians. This report shows that innovative programs, such as the Integrated Cardiovascular Clinical Network and Australian Stroke Alliance, are available and successful. Supporting additional and expanded services models must include:

- Increased access to multidisciplinary teams that is relevant and appropriate to the needs of individual communities, through co-designed models of care that are culturally appropriate;
- > Adequate resourcing, education and training of general practitioners in cardiac prevention and treatment, particularly where they lead primary healthcare teams;
- > The use of telehealth, remote monitoring and digital approaches to supplement face-to-face services and increase access levels;
- > Adequate and sustainable long-term funding models for the rural and remote context, which may include blended payments (e.g. Medicare Benefits Schedule, My Medicare), incentive payments and targeted initiatives;
- > Coordinated service planning across different elements of the health system, and between the Commonwealth and state and territory governments, to ensure duplication and inefficiencies are avoided; and
- > Additional and sustainable support for research and evaluation to ensure impact and effectiveness of interventions to ensure evidence-based outcomes that takes into account social and economic wellbeing.

3. Better data collection and integration

Work must be undertaken to better collect and coordinate data related to the incidence, treatment and outcomes associated with heart, stroke and vascular diseases in rural, and particularly remote Australia. This should include:

- > Linkage of 'time-to-treatment' data, with a focus on heart disease and stroke through development of a national approach to collection and monitoring;
- Improvements in hospital transition of rural and remote patients back to community, including the provision of clear and culturally appropriate discharge plans, with a focus on post-discharge support planning;
- Improvements in discharge summary quality, provision of discharge summaries to rural and remote healthcare providers, and the sharing of patient medical records across professionals essential for rehabilitation and management;
- > Costing avoidable hospitalisations for heart, stroke and vascular disease as a result of preventative primary healthcare services, to identify system savings through investment in primary healthcare services; and

Expanding clinical databases to improve data collection from rural and remote areas; for example, Australian Stroke Clinical Registry and cardiac rehabilitation registries.

These recommendations can be achieved through policy interventions, to enhance lasting crosssector collaborations that address community health issues, deliver effective and integrated health, and incorporate social and environmental approaches.

References

- 1. Bishop L, Gardiner FW, Spring B, Gale L, Schofield Z, Quinlan F. *Best for the Bush: Rural and Remote Health Base Line 2022* Canberra: Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia;2023.
- 2. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Heart, stroke and vascular disease: Australian facts. https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/heart-stroke-vascular-diseases/hsvd-facts/contents/ about. Published 2023. Accessed 14/03/2023.
- 3. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Deaths in Australia. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/life-expectancy-death/deaths-in-australia/ contents/variations-between-population-groups. Published 2022. Accessed 17/10/2022.
- 4. Public Health Information Development Unit (PHIDU) Torrens University Australia. Social Health Atlases, Maps, Population Health Areas. https://phidu.torrens.edu.au/social-health-atlases/maps. Published 2023. Accessed 12/05/2023.
- 5. Mathur S, Moon L, Leigh S. *Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people with coronary heart disease: Further perspectives on health status and treatment. Cardiovascular disease series no. 26.* Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare;2006.
- 6. Lemp JM, Nuthanapati MP, Bärnighausen TW, Vollmer S, Geldsetzer P, Jani A. Use of lifestyle interventions in primary care for individuals with newly diagnosed hypertension, hyperlipidaemia or obesity: a retrospective cohort study. *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine*. 2022;115(8):289–299.
- Volker N, Davey RC, Cochrane T, Williams LT, Clancy T. Improving the prevention of cardiovascular disease in primary health care: the model for prevention study protocol. *JMIR Research Protocols.* 2014;3(3):e33.
- 8. Australian Government Department of Health. *National Strategic Action Plan for Heart Disease and Stroke.* Canberra: Australian Government Department of Health;2020.
- **9.** Walter S, Fassbender K, Easton D, et al. Stroke care equity in rural and remote areas novel strategies. *Vessel Plus.* 2021;5:27.
- **10.** van Ginneken E, Reed S, Siciliani L, et al. Policy Brief 47: *Addressing backlogs and managing waiting lists during and beyond the COVID-19 pandemic.* Geneva: World Health Organization;2022.
- **11.** National Health Strategy Working Group. *The Best for the Bush.* Sydney: Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia;1993.
- 12. NHS. Cardiovascular Disease. https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/cardiovasculardisease/#:~:text=lt's%20usually%20associated%20with%20a,%2C%20heart%2C%20 kidneys%20and%20eyes. Published 2022. Accessed 18/04/2023.
- **13.** Geoscience Australia. Area of Australia States and Territories. Australian Government https://www.ga.gov.au/scientific-topics/national-location-information/dimensions/area-ofaustralia-states-and-territories. Published 2020. Accessed 8 April 2020.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. Remoteness Structure. Australian Bureau of Statistics. https:// www.abs.gov.au/statistics/statistical-geography/remoteness-structure. Published 2021. Accessed 15/10/2022.
- **15.** Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Rural and remote health. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/rural-remote-australians/rural-and-remote-health. Published 2022. Accessed 15/10/22.
- **16.** Garvan Research Foundation. *Medical research and rural health: Garvan report 2015.* Darlinghurst: Garvan Research Foundation;2015.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. Table 2. Estimated resident population, Remoteness Areas (ASGS2016), Australia. Population estimates by Significant Urban Area and Remoteness Area (ASGS2016), 2001 to 2021. Australian Bureau of Statistics. https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/people/population/regional-population/2021/32180DS0004_2001-21.xlsx. Published July 2022. Accessed 13/10/2022.

- **18.** Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Profile of Indigenous Australians. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/australias-health/profile-of-indigenous-australians. Published 2022. Accessed 15/10/2022.
- **19.** Australian Bureau of Statistics. Microdata: National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Survey. AIHW analysis of TableBuilder. https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/microdata-tablebuilder/available-microdata-tablebuilder/national-aboriginal-and-torres-strait-islander-health-australia. Published 2019. Accessed 24/10/2022.
- Cummins RA, Mead R, the Australian Unity-Deakin University Wellbeing Research Partnership. 20th Anniversary Australian Unity Wellbeing Index: Commemorative Report. Australian Unity and Deakin University. https://www.australianunity.com.au/-/media/ rebrandwellbeing/documents/auwi20_interactive_report. Published 2021. Accessed 8/11/2022.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Australia's health 2014. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Australia's health series no. 14. Cat. no. AUS 178 Web site. https://www. aihw.gov.au/reports/australias-health/australias-health-2014/contents/table-of-contents. Published 2014. Accessed 20/5/2019.
- **22.** Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Rural and remote health. https://www.aihw.gov.au/ reports/rural-remote-australians/rural-remote-health/contents/access-to-health-care. Published 2019. Accessed 16/05/2021.
- 23. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. *National Drug Strategy Household Survey 2019. Drug Statistics series no. 32. PHE 270.* Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare;2020.
- 24. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (US), National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion (US), Office on Smoking and Health (US). How Tobacco Smoke Causes Disease: The Biology and Behavioral Basis for Smoking-Attributable Disease: A Report of the Surgeon General. Chapter 7, Pulmonary Diseases. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (US). https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK53021/. Published 2010. Accessed 10/07/2021.
- 25. Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Curtin LR, Lamb MM, Flegal KM. Prevalence of High Body Mass Index in US Children and Adolescents, 2007-2008. *Jama.* 2010;303(3):242-249.
- **26.** Australian Bureau of Statistics. Health conditions prevalence. Data download: Table 5 health risk factors by population characteristics. https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/health/health-conditions-and-risks/health-conditions-prevalence/latest-release#key-statistics. Published 2022. Accessed 27/10/2022.
- **27.** Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Insufficient physical activity. https://www.aihw.gov. au/reports/risk-factors/insufficient-physical-activity/contents/insufficient-physical-activity. Published 2020. Accessed 26/10/2020.
- **28.** Australian Bureau of Statistics. Hypertension and measured high blood pressure. https:// www.abs.gov.au/statistics/health/health-conditions-and-risks/hypertension-and-measuredhigh-blood-pressure/latest-release. Published 2018. Accessed 9/11/2022.
- **29.** Smith JD. *Australia's rural, remote and Indigenous health 3e.* Chatswood: Elsevier; 2016.
- **30.** Jilani MH, Javed Z, Yahya T, et al. Social determinants of health and cardiovascular disease: Current state and future directions towards healthcare equity. *Current Atherosclerosis Reports.* 2021;23(9):55.
- **31.** Powell-Wiley TM, Baumer Y, Baah FO, et al. Social determinants of cardiovascular disease. *Circ Res.* 2022;130(5):782-799.
- **32.** Jones D, Lyle D, McAllister L, et al. The case for integrated health and community literacy to achieve transformational community engagement and improved health outcomes: an inclusive approach to addressing rural and remote health inequities and community healthcare expectations. *Primary Health Care Research and Development.* 2020;21:e57.
- **33.** Bishop L, Laverty M, Gale L. Providing aeromedical care to remote Indigenous communities. In. Canberra: Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia; 2016.

62

- **34.** Gracey M, King M. Indigenous health part 1: Determinants and disease patterns. *The Lancet.* 2009;374(9683):65–75.
- **35.** Department of Health. *National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Plan 2021–2031.* Canberra: Department of Health;2021.
- **36.** Gardiner FW, Bishop L, de Graaf B, Campbell JA, Gale L, Quinlan F. *Equitable patient access to primary healthcare in Australia.* Canberra: Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia;2020.
- **37.** Vecchio N, Davies D, Rohde N. The effect of inadequate access to healthcare services on emergency room visits. A comparison between physical and mental health conditions. *PLoS One. 2018;13(8):e0202559.*
- **38.** Pak A, Gannon B. Do access, quality and cost of general practice affect emergency department use? *Health Policy.* 2021;125(4):504-511.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Australia's health 2018. Australia's health series no. 16. AUS 221. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/ australias-health/australias-health-2018/contents/table-of-contents. Published 2018. Accessed 20/5/2019.
- **40.** World Health Organization. Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs). https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cardiovascular-diseases-(cvds). Published 2021. Accessed 14/11/2022.
- **41.** Australian Bureau of Statistics. Causes of Death, Australia. https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/ health/causes-death/causes-death-australia/2021. Published 2021. Accessed 17/04/2023.
- **42.** Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. *Australian Burden of Disease Study: Impact and causes of illness and death in Australia 2018. Australian Burden of Disease Study series no. 23. Cat. no. BOD 29.* Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare;2021.
- **43.** Australian Institute of Health and Welfare: Senes S, Penm E. *Medicines for cardiovascular health: Are they used appropriately? Cardiovascular disease series no. 27. Cat. no. 36.* Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare;2007.
- **44.** Aspex Consulting. *Royal Flying Doctor Service traditional services–systems development: Paper on classification, counting and measurement.* East Melbourne: Aspex Consulting;2014.
- **45.** Bardocz P. Australia highly detailed editable political map with separated layers. Stock Vector ID: 236952475. https://www.shutterstock.com/image-vector/australia-highly-detailed-editable-political-map-236952475. Published 2023. Accessed 23/05/2023.
- **46.** Gardiner FW, Rallah-Baker K, Dos Santos A, et al. Indigenous Australians have a greater prevalence of heart, stroke, and vascular disease, are younger at death, with higher hospitalisation and more aeromedical retrievals from remote regions. *EClinicalMedicine*. 2021;42:101181.
- **47.** Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Heart, stroke & vascular diseases. https://www. aihw.gov.au/reports-data/health-conditions-disability-deaths/heart-stroke-vascular-diseases/ overview. Published 2023. Accessed 18/04/2023.
- **48.** Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. Fourth Atlas 2021 2.2 Heart failure. https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/publications-and-resources/resource-library/ fourth-atlas-2021-22-heart-failure. Published 2021. Accessed 18/04/2023.
- **49.** Menzies School of Health Research. Rheumatic heart disease. https://www.menzies.edu.au/ page/Research/Global_and_Tropical_Health/Rheumatic_Heart_Disease/. Published 2023. Accessed 22/04/2023.
- Katzenellenbogen JM, Bond-Smith D, Seth RJ, et al. Contemporary Incidence and Prevalence of Rheumatic Fever and Rheumatic Heart Disease in Australia Using Linked Data: The Case for Policy Change. *Journal of the American Heart Association*. 2020;9(19):e016851.
- 51. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Acute rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease in Australia, 2015–2019. https://www.aihw.gov.au/getmedia/ed8003f2-f2d6-41fc-ac7e-7ab5189f56ac/Acute-rheumatic-fever-and-rheumatic-heart-disease-in-Australia-2015-2019. pdf.aspx?inline=true#:~:text=During%20this%20period%20the%20number,over%20the%20 5%20years%20combined). Published 2021. Accessed 22/04/2023.

- **52.** Nagel T, Sweet M, Dingwall KM, et al. Adapting wellbeing research tools for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people with chronic kidney disease. *BMC Nephrology.* 2020;21(1):130.
- **53.** Verbunt E, Luke J, Paradies Y, et al. Cultural determinants of health for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people a narrative overview of reviews. *International Journal for Equity in Health.* 2021;20(1):181.
- **54.** Australian College of Nursing. Improving health outcomes in rural and remote Australia: Optimising the contribution of nurses. https://www.acn.edu.au/wp-content/uploads/positionstatement-discussion-paper-improving-health-outcomes-rural-remote-australia.pdf. Published 2018. Accessed 22/04/2023.
- **55.** Gardiner FW, Gale L, Ransom AL, M. *Looking Ahead: Responding to the health needs of country Australians in 2028 the centenary year of the RFDS.* Canberra: Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia;2018.
- **56.** Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. *Admitted patient care 2017–18: Australian hospital statistics. Health services series no. 90. Cat. no. HSE 225.* Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare;2019.
- **57.** Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Disparities in potentially preventable hospitalisations across Australia: Exploring the data. https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/primary-health-care/ disparities-in-potentially-preventable-hospitalisations-exploring-the-data/contents/ introduction. Published 2020. Accessed 7/12/2022.
- **58.** Gardiner FW, Bishop L, Foreman R, Potter J, Gale L, Laverty M. *Cardiovascular disease prevention and rehabilitation in rural and remote populations.* Canberra: Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia;2019.
- **59.** Bishop L, Laverty M. *Filling the gap: Disparities in oral health access and outcomes between major cities and remote and rural Australia.* Canberra: Royal Flying Doctor Service;2015.
- **60.** Kotronia E, Brown H, Papacosta AO, et al. Oral health and all-cause, cardiovascular disease, and respiratory mortality in older people in the UK and USA. *Scientific Reports.* 2021;11(1):16452.
- **61.** Tonetti MS, Van Dyke TE. Periodontitis and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease: consensus report of the Joint EFP/AAP Workshop on Periodontitis and Systemic Diseases. *Journal of Clinical Periodontology.* 2013;40 Supplement 14:S24-29.
- **62.** Kim J, Kim HJ, Jeon J, Song TJ. Association between oral health and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with hypertension: a nationwide cohort study. *Journal of Hypertension*. 2022;40(2):374-381.
- **63.** Carapetis JR, Brown A, Wilson NJ, Edwards KN. An Australian guideline for rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease: an abridged outline. *Medical Journal of Australia.* 2007;186(11):581-586.
- **64.** Victor Chang Cardiac Research Institute. What is a heart health check? https://www. victorchang.edu.au/what-is-heart-check. Published 2023. Accessed 25/04/2023.
- **65.** Heart Foundation. Cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk assessment and management. https:// www.heartfoundation.org.au/bundles/for-professionals/cvd-risk-assessment-andmanagement. Published 2023. Accessed 25/04/2023.
- 66. Heart Foundation. Heart Week 2022: Two-thirds of at-risk Aussies ignoring vital heart checkups. https://www.heartfoundation.org.au/media-releases/heart-week-2022. Published 2022. Accessed 25/04/2022.
- 67. Heart Foundation. Find a cardiac rehabilitation service near you. https://www.heartfoundation. org.au/bundles/support/cardiac-services-directory. Published 2022. Accessed 1/03/2022.
- **68.** Zecchin R, Candelaria D, Ferry C, et al. Development of quality indicators for cardiac rehabilitation in australia: A modified delphi method and pilot test. *Heart Lung and Circulation*. 2019;28(11):1622–1630.
- **69.** Gardiner FW, Nwose EU, Regan E, et al. Outpatient cardiac rehabilitation: Patient perceived benefits and reasons for non-attendance. *Collegian.* 2018;25(5):479-485.

- Gardiner FW, Regan E, Nwose EU, Bwititi PT, Crockett J, Wang L. Outpatient cardiac rehabilitation: Effects on patient improvement outcomes. *Diabetes Metabolic Syndrome*. 2017;11 Suppl 2:S1025–s1030.
- **71.** Tideman PA, Tirimacco R, Senior DP, et al. Impact of a regionalised clinical cardiac support network on mortality among rural patients with myocardial infarction. *Medical Journal of Australia.* 2014;200(3):157–160.
- **72.** The Australian Stroke Alliance. The Australian Stroke Alliance. https://austrokealliance.org. au/. Published 2023. Accessed 26/04/2023.
- **73.** Take Heart Deadly Heart. Take Heart: Deadly Heart https://takeheartrhd.com/. Published 2022. Accessed.
- 74. Kerrigan V, Kelly A, Lee AM, et al. A community-based program to reduce acute rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease in northern Australia. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2021;21(1):1127.
- **75.** House P. About Purple House. https://www.purplehouse.org.au/about. Published 2022. Accessed 28/10/2022.

Appendix 1. Methodology for analysis of RFDS aeromedical retrieval data

Classifying diseases and related health problems

The RFDS uses the tenth edition of the *International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Conditions (ICD-10) Australian Modification (AM) (ICD-10-AM)* to code and classify health data. In the ICD-10-AM, diseases and injuries are classified under one of 22 chapter headings. Each chapter heading has a range of codes that denote specific illnesses and injuries. Heart, stroke and vascular diseases were coded under Chapter nine of the ICD-10-AM (Diseases of the Circulatory System). The sub-types of heart, stroke and vascular disease were assigned ICD-10-AM 3-item codes (I00-I99), as listed in Table A1.

RFDS data collection and coding

The RFDS records data for each aeromedical retrieval it conducts. De-identified data for all aeromedical retrievals for heart, stroke and vascular disease conducted between 1 January 2017 and 31 December 2021 were analysed for the report.

De-identified aeromedical retrieval data considered in this report include: retrieval date (day/month year); patient's age (aggregated by five-year age group); gender (male, female, unknown); Indigenous status (Indigenous, non-Indigenous, unknown); illness or injury associated with the retrieval (ICD-10-AM chapter code and three-item code (where known)); type of retrieval (primary evacuation, inter-hospital transfer, repatriation)^f; priority (priority 1 – to be retrieved within one hour, priority 2 – to be retrieved within four hours, priority 3 – to be retrieved within 12 hours); and pick-up and drop-off location (nearest airstrip).

To supplement this data, we used data from the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) National Health Survey, Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, and the Public Health Information Development Unit. This data reports prevalence by statistical area. We have used Statistical Areas Level 3 regions to provide a regional breakdown of Australia, which is the standard framework for ABS data. Statistical Areas Level 3 regions were designed to reflect regional identity and have both geographic and socioeconomic similarities.⁶⁵ Where possible, the Statistical Areas Level 3 region is used in conjunction with community/town name to provide more detail.

Population sizes in rural communities are much smaller than regional centres and cities. Reporting raw numbers for smaller populations can misrepresent the burden of disease. Where possible, we have reported the standardised mortality ratio. The standardised death ratio is a quantity, expressed as a ratio or percentage to quantify the increase or decrease in mortality. In this report a number greater than one indicates the ratio of the likelihood of death in a community compared to the national population of Australia.⁶⁶

Data analyses

All data were analysed using IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 26.0 or Microsoft Excel 2016. All analyses used unweighted data. Data are reported as summary statistics, including the number (N) and proportion (per cent (%)) of patients in each category.

The initial analysis on total number of aeromedical retrievals included all retrievals, even if one variable was missing (e.g. age, Indigenous status, gender etc.), to provide an overall picture of aeromedical retrievals. All remaining analyses excluded cases where variables were missing and excluded analyses of repatriation flights.

f Unless defined, RFDS patient counts include primary evacuations and inter-hospital transfers.

Data limitations and exclusions

This dataset only includes patients who had a primary diagnosis of heart, stroke and vascular disease. Some of the data was not coded with an ICD-10 code or subheading and some demographic data is missing. Diagnosis is recorded based on the information the clinician has at the time and may be re-classified once further diagnostic tests have been carried out. When discussing demographics, only records that have definitive information have been included.

This report includes aeromedical data from RFDS and reports extensively on the communities that we serve.⁹ Where available the report draws on non-aeromedical data, such as primary healthcare data across RFDS. Data from other aeromedical services have not been included in this report.

Retrieval numbers reported for each state do not represent the prevalence of disease. States and territories use aeromedical retrieval services to augment the health service and provide primary evacuations and inter-hospital transfers. The largest states – Queensland and Western Australia – transfer more patients by air between hospitals due to the distances they need to cover. Victoria and Tasmania have less aeromedical retrievals as road-based transport is better suited to their needs. RFDS provides repatriation flights, which is taking patients from the point of definitive care back to a facility closer to home. When reporting highest retrieval locations we have excluded the state capital cities to reflect the flights that are repatriating patients to lower care facilities.

g It should be noted that where gaps are apparent (for example in the Top End of the Northern Territory) this is not due to a lack of demand for these services – it is due to non-RFDS providers being contracted to supply these services.

Table A1: The International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, Tenth Revision, Australian Modification (ICD-10-AM) for heart, stroke and vascular disease

| ICD-10 Code | ICD-10 chapter subheading | Description/example |
|-------------|--|---------------------|
| 100-102 | Acute rheumatic fever | 7.47 |
| 105-109 | Chronic rheumatic heart diseases | 5.07 |
| 110-115 | Hypertensive diseases | 4.21 |
| 120-125 | Ischaemic heart diseases | 4.14 |
| 126-128 | Pulmonary heart disease and diseases of pulmonary circulation | 9.76 |
| 130-152 | Other forms of heart disease | 7.57 |
| 160-169 | Cerebrovascular diseases | 6.76 |
| 170-179 | Diseases of arteries arterioles and capillaries | 6.31 |
| 180-189 | Diseases of veins, lymphatic vessels, and lymph nodes not elsewhere classified | 2.25 |
| 195-199 | Other and unspecified disorders of the circulatory system | 1.99 |

